

https://lib.uliege.be



https://matheo.uliege.be

Mémoire

Auteur : Le Vern, Lise Promoteur(s) : Gobert, Sylvie; 16466 Faculté : Faculté des Sciences Diplôme : Master en océanographie, à finalité approfondie Année académique : 2021-2022 URI/URL : http://hdl.handle.net/2268.2/16501

Avertissement à l'attention des usagers :

Tous les documents placés en accès ouvert sur le site le site MatheO sont protégés par le droit d'auteur. Conformément aux principes énoncés par la "Budapest Open Access Initiative" (BOAI, 2002), l'utilisateur du site peut lire, télécharger, copier, transmettre, imprimer, chercher ou faire un lien vers le texte intégral de ces documents, les disséquer pour les indexer, s'en servir de données pour un logiciel, ou s'en servir à toute autre fin légale (ou prévue par la réglementation relative au droit d'auteur). Toute utilisation du document à des fins commerciales est strictement interdite.

Par ailleurs, l'utilisateur s'engage à respecter les droits moraux de l'auteur, principalement le droit à l'intégrité de l'oeuvre et le droit de paternité et ce dans toute utilisation que l'utilisateur entreprend. Ainsi, à titre d'exemple, lorsqu'il reproduira un document par extrait ou dans son intégralité, l'utilisateur citera de manière complète les sources telles que mentionnées ci-dessus. Toute utilisation non explicitement autorisée ci-avant (telle que par exemple, la modification du document ou son résumé) nécessite l'autorisation préalable et expresse des auteurs ou de leurs ayants droit.



Biomonitoring of two marine mollusks, the Mediterranean mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis* and the limpet *Patella sp.* in three North Corsican ports and inter-annual comparisons



Lise LE VERN

Hosting structure: UMRi 7266 LIENSs Internship supervisor: Marion **PILLET**, Hélène **THOMAS** University tutor: Sylvie **GOBERT**

Master thesis of the university of Liège to obtain the master's degree in Oceanography

Academic year **2021 – 2022**



MINISTÈRE MINISTÈRE DE L'AGRICULTURE DE LA TRAI ET DE L'ALIMENTATION ÉCOLOGIQI Liberté Egalité Fraternité Fraternité





« Conformément aux règles imposées à la rédaction, ce mémoire ne doit pas dépasser 50 pages, rédigées en Times 12 ou équivalent »





ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Avant tout, je souhaiterai adresser un tout grand merci à me tutrice Marion, qui m'a si bien encadrée tout au long de ce stage. J'ai excessivement progressé sous tous les angles grâce à elle. Elle m'a toujours poussé, encouragé, a été de si bon conseil pour moi. Elle m'a permis de réaliser mon premier congrès international. Je n'aurais pas pu rêver meilleure tutrice pour réaliser ce mémoire.

Merci également à Mme Thomas de m'avoir permis de réaliser plein d'activité supplémentaires au sein du LIENSs.

Je souhaiterai également remercier tous les membres du laboratoires LIENSs de La Rochelle Université qui m'ont aidé de près ou de loin à la bonne réussite de ce mémoire (Marion, Valérie). Merci à mes parents, ma sœur, pour leur soutien moral sans faille.

Merci également à tous les petits potes du LIENSs (Raquel, Jeanne à jamais). Quelle belle brochette de stagiaires nous fîmes !

Merci à toute la promotion « océano » pour le soutient quotidien depuis deux ans. Malgré le covid, on a su créer de liens. Olivier c'est grâce à toi si j'ai su finir mon rapport. Merci infiniment pour ton accueil.

Enfin, je tiens à remercier mon amour pour sa présence. Je n'y serais probablement pas arrivé sans toute son aide au quotidien. Merci pour tous les petits plats que tu as fait pour me faciliter la vie, merci d'être là pour moi, merci pour toute la force que tu me donnes chaque jour.





RÉSUMÉ

Plus de 80% de la pollution présente dans les océans provient des activités terrestres et humaines qui y sont menées. Les eaux côtières, contenant une grande partie de la biodiversité marine, sont directement impactées par ces pressions anthropiques. Plus particulièrement, les zones portuaires, qui constituent le lieu de vie de nombreuses espèces marines, sont soumises à des risques supplémentaires de pollution liées aux activités portuaires (trafic maritime, pollution chronique par les hydrocarbures ou les peintures antifouling, etc.). La surveillance de la contamination dans ces zones portuaires est un enjeu important, notamment en Corse où la population côtière peut doubler en saison estivale en raison du tourisme, augmentant considérablement les risques de pollution. Le projet QUAMPO, mis en place dans le cadre du maintien du bon état écologique proposé par la Directive Cadre Stratégie pour le Milieu Marin (DCSMM), vise à évaluer la qualité des eaux des ports de la Haute-Corse. Pour ce faire, l'utilisation d'une approche multi biomarqueurs a été réalisée sur deux mollusques marins différents : la moule méditerranéenne Mytilus galloprovincialis et la patelle Patella sp. Dans le cadre du projet QUAMPO, le présent mémoire vise à fournir les dernières données de janvier 2022. Des organismes ont été prélevés dans trois zones portuaires (Calvi, Île Rousse et St-Florent) et une sélection de biomarqueurs d'exposition (éléments traces, polluants organiques) et d'effet (stress oxydatif, métabolisme énergétique, immunité, neurotoxicité, stock énergétique) ont été analysés pour (1) évaluer l'effet induit de la pollution chronique dans ces ports, (2) confirmer ou non le potentiel de la patelle comme bioindicateur de la qualité des eaux, (3) et utiliser un indice intégratif : « Integrative Biomarker Response » (IBR) pour communiquer plus simplement les résultats aux gestionnaires des ports. En conséquence, certains biomarqueurs de la patelle répondent bien aux différents polluants présents dans les ports. Même si des traces de pollution ont pu être observées dans tous les ports, de nature et concentration différente, les ports de la Haute-Corse présentent globalement des eaux de bonne qualité. Enfin, l'indice IBR semble être un outil utile pour résumer toutes les réponses des biomarqueurs.





ABSTRACT

More than 80% of the pollution present in ocean comes from land and human activities carried out there. Coastal waters, containing a large part of marine biodiversity, are directly impacted by these anthropogenic pressures. More especially, port areas, which constitute living place to numerous marine species, are subject to additional risks of pollution specific to port activities (maritime traffic, chronic pollution by hydrocarbons or antifouling paints, etc.). Monitoring contamination in these port areas is an important issue, especially in Corsica where the coastal population can double in summer season, considerably increasing the risks of pollution. The QUAMPO project, set up in the context of achieving of maintaining the good ecological status proposed by the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD), aims to assess the quality of water in the North Corsica ports. To do so, the use of a multibiomarker approach was carried out on two different marine mollusks: the Mediterranean mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis and the limpet Patella sp. As part of the QUAMPO project, the present master thesis aims at providing the last data, of January 2022. Organisms were sampled in three ports areas (Calvi, Île Rousse and St-Florent) and a battery of biomarkers of exposure (traces elements, organic pollutants) and biomarkers of effect focusing oxidative stress, energetic metabolism, immunity, neurotoxicity, and energy stock was analyzed to evaluate the induced-effect of chronic pollution in those ports, to confirm or no the potential of limpet as a reliable bioindicators, but also used an integrative index: the integrative biomarker response (IBR) to communicate results to ports managers in a simpler way. As results, some limpet biomarkers well respond to the different pollutant present in ports. Even if trace of pollution could be observed in all port, from different nature or concentration, North Corsica ports present globally good quality waters. Finally, the IBR index appears to be a useful tool to summarise all biomarkers responses.





TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgement	II
Résumé	III
Abstract	IV
Table of illustrations	VII
1. List of figures	VII
2. List of tables	VIII
3. List of appendixes	VIII
Abbreviation	IX
Introduction	
1 Marine chemical nollution	1
1. Marine chemical polition	1
1.7 The case of mediterranean sea	
1.3 Legislation	3
	-
2. Biomonitoring using mollusks	
2.1. The mussel <i>Mytilus sp.</i>	
2.2. The Impet <i>Patella sp.</i>	
2.3. Biomarkers selected in this study	6
3. The quampo project	
4. Objectives	
Materials and methods	
1. Studied area	
2. Field sampling	
3. Analyses of biomarkers of exposure	
3.1. Trace elements	
3.2. Organics pollutants	
4. Analyses of biomarkers of effects	
5. Statistical analysis	
Results	
1. Morphometrics measurements	
2 Biomarkers of exposure	19
2. Diomarkers of exposure	10
2.1. Trace clements	
2.2. Organic politicants	
3. Biomarkers of effect	
3.1. Two-way anova tests	
3.2. One-way anova tests	
4. The integrated biomarker response (IBR)	
4.1. January 2022 sampling.	
4.2. All sampling periods of the quampo project	
Discussion	
1. Active biomonitoring of mussels in north corsican ports	





1. 1. 1.	.1. .2. .3.	Inter-ports chemical contamination (et, organics pollutants) Effects of chemical contamination on caged mussels Limits	32 36 38
2.	Pass	ive biomonitoring of limpets in north corsica ports	38
2.	.1.	Inter-ports chemical contamination	38
2.	.2.	Effects of chemical contamination of native limpet	40
2.	.3.	Potential for further biomonitoring	41
3.	The	integrated biomarker response (IBR)	41
4.	Inter	rspecific variability	42
5.	Limi	itations and perspectives	43
Conclu	usion .		44
Refere	ences		45
Appen	dixes		58
I.I			





TABLE OF ILLUSTRATIONS

1. List of figures

Figure 1: Map of the studied ports (Calvi, Île Rousse, St-Florent). Colored square code in the North Corsica map (top-right) distinguishes the different ports and is reported in the contour of each ports map (bottom). Different symbols allow to identify: 💓 : fairing conditions; 🕑 : gas station condition. A : presence of boats; C : mussels *Mytilus galloprovincialis*; I : limpets Figure 2: Photos of the sampling and caging procedures (© STARESO)......11 Figure 3: Photos of tissues preparation before the analyses of biomarkers of effects (©Lise LE Figure 4: Significant results provide by a two-way ANOVA regarding site and conditions factors. The test was performed for digestive gland of M. galloprovincialis (n = 20) and soft tissues of limpets (n = 7-10) collected in January 2022. Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. For each species, letters indicate significant differences between ports (ANOVA test Figure 5: Total glycogen. Lipids, and protein concentration (mg/g of wet weight) in digestive gland of *M. galloprovincialis* (n = 20) and soft tissues of *Patella sp.* (n = 7-10) for each site and collected in January 2022. Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. For each species, letters indicate significant differences between ports (ANOVA test followed by Tukey's post-Figure 6: Biomarkers of energetic metabolism assessed in the digestive gland of M. galloprovincialis (n = 20) and soft tissues of Patella sp. (n = 7-10) collected in each port in January 2022. Pyruvate kinase (PK), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) specific activities are expressed as mean ± standard deviation. in mU/mg of protein. For each species, letters indicate significant differences between ports Figure 7: Biomarkers of antioxidants defenses assessed in digestive gland of M. galloprovincialis (n = 20) and soft tissues of Patella sp. (n = 7-10) collected in each port in January 2022. Specific activities of glutathione peroxidase (GPX) and glutathione-s-transferase (GST) (mU/mg of protein), glutathione reductase (GR), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and log transformed catalase (CAT) (U/mg of protein) are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. For each species, letters indicate significant differences between ports (ANOVA test followed by Figure 8: Biomarkers of immune system, acetylcholinesterase (ACHE) and neurotoxicity, laccase (LAC) assessed in digestive gland of M. galloprovincialis (n = 20) and soft tissues of Patella sp. (n = 7-10) collected in each port int January 2022. Values represent specific activities expressed as mean ± standard deviation, in mU/mg of protein. For each species, letters indicate significant differences between ports (ANOVA test followed by Tukey's post-hoc test, p-value Figure 9: (a). (b). Star plots of standardized response of a selection of biomarkers of effect in M. galloprovincialis and Patella sp., collected in North Corsica ports in January 2022. (c). Mean Integrated Biomarker Responses (IBR, mean ± standard deviation). For each species, letters indicate significant differences between ports (Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's post-hoc





2. List of tables

Table 1 : Summary of the differences between active and passive biomonitoring, their advantages and limitations (Andral <i>et al.</i> 2004: Besse <i>et al.</i> 2012: Lacroix <i>et al.</i> 2015)
Table 2: Reaction equations and bibliographic references of the measurement methods for each
biomarker of effects
Table 3: Average morphometric measurements of <i>M. galloprovincialis</i> and <i>Patella sp.</i> collectedin the four North Corsican studied ports in January 2022. Grey cells highlight the data when a
significant difference was found (p-value < 0.05)
Table 4 : Trace element concentration (in $\mu g.g^{-1}$ of wet weight) in soft tissue of <i>M</i> . <i>galloprovincialis</i> and <i>Patella sp.</i> (1 pool of 8 individuals per port). Numbers in bold are the highest
values for each species. Maximum levels presented only concern bivalve mollusks
Table 5: Organic pollutant concentration $(ng.g^{-1} \text{ of wet weight})$ in soft tissue of M .
galloprovincialis and Patella sp. (1 pool of 8 individuals per port). < LD = below the detection
limit. < LQ = below the quantification limit. To help table reading, numbers in red represent values
egal or above 1.0 ng/g
Table 6 : Results of two-way ANOVA performed to test the effect of sites and conditions variations
in biomarkers of effects of <i>M. galloprovincialis</i> digestive gland collected in January 2022
tissue of <i>Mytilus galloprovincialis</i> recorded by recent study. $<$ LOQ: below limit of quantification.

3. List of appendixes

Appendix 1: Map of the biocenose and pressures found near each north-Corsican port
Appendix 2: Protocols of trace elements assessments performed in March and April 2022 at
LIENSs laboratory. as part of the QUAMPO project
Appendix 3: Protocols of organic pollutants assessments performed in March and April 2022 at
CEDRE laboratory. Brest. France. as part of the QUAMPO project
Appendix 4: Enzymatic activities protocols performed in March and April 2022 at LIENSs
laboratory. as part of last sampling of the QUAMPO project
Appendix 5: Script R used for statistical analyses on data acquired during the QUAMPO project
(R version 4.2.0 and RStudio 2022.02.3)70
Appendix 6: Pearson's correlograms between morphometric measurements. biomarkers of effects
and environmental parameters collected since September 2020 for the QUAMPO project
Appendix 7: Total enzymatic activity (mean ± standard deviation. sample size in parentheses) of
biomarkers of effect measured in digestive gland of mussels and soft tissues of limpets. both
collected in the different ports in January 2022. Letters indicates significant differences between
locations (p-values < 0.05) within the same species
Appendix 8 : Trace element concentration (in µg.L-1) in water samples collected in the different
locations in January 2022. Values above the detection limit are colored in red on grey background.
Appendix 9 : Organic pollutant concentration (in ng.L ⁻¹) in water samples collected in the different
locations in January 2022. $<$ LD = below the detection limit. $<$ LQ = below the quantification limit.



ABBREVIATION



ACHE: Acetylcholinesterase NADH: β-Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide ADP: Adenosine 5'-diphosphate NADPH: β-Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide Ag: Silver phosphate Al: Aluminum MDH: Malate dehydrogenase As: Arsenic Mn: Manganese Ba: Barium Mo: Molybdenum CAT: Catalase MSFD: European Marine Strategy Framework Cd: Cadmium Directive cDNB: 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene Ni: Nickel Co: Cobalt NIST: National Institute of Standards and Cr: Chromium Technology Cu: Copper PAHs: Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons dGDP: Deoxyguanosine-5'-diphosphate Pb: Lead DO: dissolved oxygen PBS: Phosphate-buffered saline DTNB: 5,5'-Dithiobis(2-nitrobenzoic acid) PCBs: Polychlorobiphenyl EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid PEP: Phosphoenolpyruvate EPA: Environmental protection agency PEPCK: Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase Fe: Iron PPD: *p*-phenylenediamine Fz: Fairing zone PK: Pyruvate kinase GOD-POD: Glucose oxidase peroxidase ROS: Reactive oxygen species GPX: Glutathione peroxidase **RS:** Reacting solution GR: Glutathione reductase Sb: Antimony Gs: Gas station SBSEGC-MS/MS: Stir bar sportive extraction-GS-DNB: Glutathionyl-dinitrobenzene thermal desorption-gas chromatography-**GSH:** Glutathione tandem mass spectrometry GSSH: Glutathione-oxydo-reductase Se: Selenium GST: Glutathione-S-transferase Sn: Tin IBR: Integrated Biomarker Response SOD: Superoxide dismutase ICP: Inductively coupled plasma tBHP-2: Tert-butyl hydroperoxide solution ICP-MS: ICP mass spectrometry **TE:** Trace elements ICP-OES: ICP optical emission spectrometry V: Vanadium LAC: Laccase type phenoloxidase WFD: Water Framework Directive LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase Zn: Zinc





INTRODUCTION

1. Marine chemical pollution

1.1. Context

Since the 19th century industrial revolution, and especially during the last fifty years, worldwide marine ecosystems have been increasingly threatened by man-made chemical pollution¹ from urban, industrial, and agricultural sources (Bonacci *et al.*,2007; Holon *et al.*,2018). About 80% of this marine pollution comes from terrestrial human activity (Gobert & Richir, 2019; Parra-Luna *et al.*,2020; United Nations, 2020), through aquatic effluents, atmospheric emissions or accidental spillages (Chase *et al.*,2001).

Oceans, covering about 71% of Earth surface and representing about 98% of water present on the planet, constitute the final receptacle of anthropogenic waste (Beiras, 2018; Gobert & Richir, 2019). Chemical contaminants are toxic, persistent in the environment, can cause damage, as endocrine disruption, on living organisms, and for some of them, can bioaccumulate and biomagnify through trophic chains (Parra-Luna *et al.*,2020). Oceanics currents participate in the distribution of chemicals in marine ecosystems all over the world, sometimes very far from their initial emission site (Muir *et al.*,1992; Debier *et al.*,2003). Coastal waters are especially of concern. Concentrating near 90% of marine biodiversity, they received the largest exposures to chronic chemical pollution because of their proximity to sources (e.g. fishing, shipping at sea, shipyards, tourism, wastewater treatment plant, accidental spills, agricultures and industries). It seems important to remember that 8 of 10 world's bigger cities are located in littoral area, concentrating about 44% of human population (Yin *et al.*,2000; Chase *et al.*,2001; Islam & Tanaka, 2004; Fasulo *et al.*,2012; Solaun *et al.*,2013; Beiras, 2018).

More particularly, confined areas such as enclosed ports are commonly described in literature to have poor water quality because of a low hydrodynamism, limited renewal through open seawaters, and an intense anthropogenic pressure, causing diffuse and chronic pollution (Guerra-García *et al.*,2021; Briant *et al.*,2022). Marine communities residing inside are exposed to a high and complex "cocktail" of pollutants, potentially linked to port activities (maritime traffic, boat careening, intra-port gas station, use of antifouling paint, etc), and are consequently

¹ Marine pollution is "the introduction by man, directly or indirectly, of substances or energy into the marine environment (including estuaries) resulting in such deleterious effects as harm to living resources, hazards to human health, hindrance to marine activities including fishing, impairment of quality for use of sea water, and reduction of amenities." (Art. 1.4 of UNCLOS, (GESAMP, 1969) (European Commission, 2008; Potters, 2013; Beiras, 2018; Parra-Luna *et al.*,2020).





more vulnerable to these permanent stress conditions (Chase *et al.*,2001; Bocchetti, Fattorini, *et al.*,2008; Sureda *et al.*,2011; Fasulo *et al.*,2012). In particular, intra-port gas station (Gs) areas are more prone to hydrocarbons spills in seawater, resulting in significant exposure by harmful pollutants such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) which can affect the neighboring marine populations (Lacroix *et al.*,2015; Breitwieser *et al.*,2017; Honda & Suzuki, 2020). Another particularly risky area is the fairing zone (Fz), where antifouling paint, used as biocide for fouling organisms, are removed to be replaced. This boat maintenance process generates waste containing biocides but also hydrocarbons, microplastics, solvents, etc. (Briant *et al.*,2022; Droit, 2020). Notice that, for some pollutants, toxicity appears only at high concentrations (essentials and natural components), but others can cause important detrimental changes even at very low levels of concentrations (Chahouri *et al.*,2022).

1.2. The case of Mediterranean Sea

In Europe, the Mediterranean Sea is surrounded by 21 different countries. Characterized by relatively warm, saline and nutrient-poor waters, it is the deepest (maximum depth of 5267 m, average depth of 1460 m) and the largest (2969000 km²) semi-enclosed sea on Earth, and its coastal waters represent 20% of total Mediterranean waters (Duarte et al., 1999; Danovaro, 2003a; Coll et al., 2010). While it only represents less than 1% of the total world ocean area, it is considered by ecologists to be a hot-spot of biodiversity (Bianchi & Morri, 2000; Coll et al.,2010; Bonanno & Orlando-Bonaca, 2018a; Tovar-Sánchez et al.,2019). However, in addition to being one of the busiest shipping routes in the world, it is the final receptacle of waters coming from very populated watersheds (Nile, Po, Ebro, etc), directly discharging wastewaters from industries, farms, or domestic life, sometimes contaminates. Those wastewaters can come from less developed countries, which don't even have access to water treatment plants (Coll et al., 2010; Beiras, 2018; Parra-Luna et al., 2020; Marengo et al., 2020). According to Gobert & Richir (2019), as many as 80% of sewage are directly released in coastal waters without any prior treatment. In addition, the coastline of the Mediterranean region, already highly populated all year, also constitute the first touristic destination in the world, with more than 330 million tourists in 2016, increasing exponentially the pressure on coastal ecosystems (Gobert & Richir, 2019; Tovar-Sánchez et al., 2019). Since coastal areas provide the major part of fishing resources, around 99% according to Parra-Luna et al. (2020), their contaminations by made-man chemicals compounds have therefore become a major threat for both marine ecosystems and therefore human health, worrying more and more countries (Gobert & Richir, 2019; Breitwieser et al., 2020; Parra-Luna et al., 2020).





1.3. Legislation

As these problems of water pollution increasingly concern industrialized countries in the last decades, legislation has been developed to conserve, protect, and manage fresh and marine waters (Parra-Luna *et al.*,2020). Through the Water Framework Directive (WFD; Directive 2000/60/EC) adopted in 2000 or the European Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD, Directive 2008/56/EC) adopted in 2008, the European Commission incited European states to achieve or maintain a "Good Environmental Status" before 2020, meaning that contaminants concentration levels are low enough to avoid pollution (Burgeot *et al.*,1996; European Commission, 2008; Lacroix *et al.*,2015). Those two main directives permit to centralized more than 30 different regional directives such as for instance Convention of Barcelona (1976), OSPAR for North-East Atlantic ocean (1992), or HELCOM for Baltic Sea (1992). They were all created for a type of ecosystem, water mass, pollution or after an accidental pollution (Danovaro, 2003b; Besse *et al.*,2012; Rodrigo *et al.*,2013).

These measures have led to establish the legal basis to monitor pollutions and defined Environmental Quality Standards $(EQS)^2$ with a view to manage and protect aquatic environments and water resources and have consequently improved knowledge. Then, a list of 33 priority substances or groups of substances and eight other pollutants and their concentration limits have been elaborated, including for example trace elements (TE), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorobiphenyl (PCBs), polybromodiphenyls (PBDEs), pharmaceuticals, or pesticides. By definition, they are toxic, persistent and bioaccumulative or considered to be questionable (European Commission, 2008; Solaun *et al.*,2013; Besse *et al.*,2012).

In order to achieve a better ecological status of water bodies, WFD and MSFD require its member states to develop monitoring programs to assess the chemical and biological quality of those water bodies.

2. Biomonitoring using mollusks

Biomonitoring consists of the study of geographical and temporal trends of contaminants through biological responses of an organism (Chase *et al.*,2001; Rainbow, 2002; Solaun *et al.*,2013; Lacroix *et al.*,2015). It has been developed to identify sources of pollution and prevent

² The EQS defines "the concentration of a particular pollutant or group of pollutants in water, sediment or biota which should not be exceeded in order to protect human health and the environment" (Besse *et al.*, 2012).





risks of future potential pollution accidents. Environmental contaminant analysis through biomonitoring uses biomarkers from a bioindicator species. Bioindicators are all sedentary species which can bioaccumulate pollutants and give an indication on the environment quality (Phillips, 1978; Gobert et al., 1992; Bonanno & Orlando-Bonaca, 2018c; Pérez et al., 2019). Biomarkers are biologic tools corresponding to an observable change in tissues, fluids of an organism or in the whole organism, revealing its exposition to one or several chemical contaminants. They can be assessed at molecular and cellular, individual, populational and even biocenosis levels, and are from various nature: biochemical, cytological, physiological or also behavioral (Blandin, 1986; Garric et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2012; Luna-Acosta et al., 2015). A distinction of molecular and intra-cellular biomarkers is commonly done: biomarkers of exposure, and biomarkers of effects. The first one indicates any presence of contaminants in the bioindicator organism, whereas the second one deals with the effect of these contaminants on it (Luna-Acosta et al., 2017a). This concept of biomonitoring gives many advantages compared to simple chemical water analysis. It brings a time-integrated and quantified methods to assess bioavailable³ fraction of contaminants, and allow the evaluation of effects of contaminants on organism health (Rainbow, 2002; Bocchetti, Fattorini, et al., 2008; Lacroix et al.,2015; Luna-Acosta et al.,2015; Wang, 2016).

Bioindicator species have finally been used worldwide since the end of the 20th century in different biomonitoring programs, e.g. the "Réseau d'Observation de la Contamination Chimique du littoral" (ROCCH), the "Programme d'évaluation et de maîtrise de la pollution marine dans la région méditerranéenne" (MEDPOL), the Asian-Pacific Mussel-Watch program (APMW), or the Spanish Monitoring Program (JAMP) (Monirith *et al.*,2003; Besada *et al.*,2011; Solaun *et al.*,2013; Ifremer *et al.*,2018).

2.1. The mussel Mytilus sp.

Different species, such as mollusks, macroalgae, seagrasses, fish, turtles, worms and even seahorses can and have been used as bioindicators for biomonitoring (Beg *et al.*,2018; Bonanno & Orlando-Bonaca, 2018b; Santos Fraga *et al.*,2018; Orani *et al.*,2022; Barrick *et al.*,2022). They have been chosen according to their presence in the studied environment, and their capacity to accumulate bioavailable contaminants, in particular those present in too low concentration to be detected directly in seawater. Mussels, especially from the genus *Mytilus*,

³ In ecotoxicology, bioavailability corresponds to the fraction of contaminants available for potential uptake by an organism from its environment (Wang, 2016).





is successfully considered as a useful bioindicator species for coastal pollution (Chase *et al.*,2001; Besada *et al.*,2011; Fasulo *et al.*,2012; Lacroix *et al.*,2015). They have been used as bioindicator since the mid-1970s in the well-known "Mussel Watch program" in United-States to study levels, trends of pollutants in water, and effects on organisms (Goldberg *et al.*,1978; Cossa, 1989; Gobert *et al.*,1992; Livingstone, 1993; Andral *et al.*,2004; Rodrigo *et al.*,2013; Sparks *et al.*,2014). This species exhibits many advantages. Widely distributed geographically and abundant, tolerant to variation of its environment, sedentary filter-feeder, this species is also easy to identify, sample, and handle, and it bioaccumulates and tolerates for instance heavy metals with a concentration factor going up from 1000 to 100000 according to environmental conditions (Cossa, 1989; Gobert *et al.*,1992; Andral *et al.*,2004; Besada *et al.*,2011; Lacroix *et al.*,2015; Bonanno & Orlando-Bonaca, 2018c). In summary, this species concentrates all the necessary qualities of a good bioindicator.

Over time, two different methods of biomonitoring, with their advantages, and disadvantages, have been developed: passive or active biomonitoring (table 1) (Andral *et al.*,2004; Besse *et al.*,2012; Delahaut *et al.*,2019; Lacroix *et al.*,2015).

Table 1: Summary of the differences between active and passive biomonitoring, their advantages and limitations(Andral *et al.*,2004; Besse *et al.*,2012; Lacroix *et al.*,2015).

	Passive biomonitoring	Active biomonitoring
Characteristics	Use of native mussels	Use of cultivated or transplanted caged mussels from reference site
Advantages	 Measurement on long-term exposure, more representative of real contamination of the environment Simpler to process Existing guidelines 	 Precise control of several experiment factors (depth and time of exposure, exact location) Reduction of confounding factors linked to physiological, genetical and biologic characteristics (size, age, sex, stage of sexual maturity, etc) of the sample (a single population) Compensation for the lack of wild mussels Repeatable Control of cost and duration of the experiment
Limitations	 Risk of scarcity of mussel stock in some places Depends on geographical distribution of species Unknown time of exposure Confounding factors linked to physiological, genetical and biologic characteristics (size, age, sex, stage of sexual maturity, etc) of the sample (a single population) 	- Potential effect of the caging system on biomarkers responses





In this work, the Mediterranean mussel (*Mytilus galloprovincialis* L., 1819) was chosen through an active biomonitoring, because of its scarcity in the studied locations and all the advantages listed in table 1. This species, widely used in literature as sentinel to assess coastal water quality of the Mediterranean Sea, provide well-described biomarkers which can be used as reference.

However, the absence or high scarcity of mussels in North Corsica port areas bring the need to investigate alternative bioindicators species for biomonitoring of environmental quality in those locations (Conti & Cecchetti, 2003). In addition, Bertrand et al. (2018) remind the importance of using native or sentinel species as bioindicators, adapted to the environment, thus guaranteeing quality biomonitoring. Additional authors agreed, saying that they are more suitable to a biomonitoring of water quality, due to their ubiquity in the environment (Conti & Cecchetti, 2003; Beg *et al.*, 2018; Santos Fraga *et al.*, 2018; Orani *et al.*, 2022; Sánchez-Marín *et al.*, 2022).

2.2. The limpet Patella sp.

Another potential bioindicator are limpets (*Patella sp.*). This marine gastropod is a grazer living organisms on intertidal rocks (Bonacci *et al.*,2007; Pérez *et al.*,2019; Viñas *et al.*,2018). Because of its abundance on shoreline, its sedentary lifestyle, its consumption by humans, its large distribution or its ease of sampling, it is considered a keystone species (Campanella *et al.*,2001; Bartolomé *et al.*,2011; Prusina *et al.*,2015; Pérez *et al.*,2019).

Even if knowledge on the use of limpets as a bioindicator species remains limited, some authors describe this species as promising (Pérez *et al.*,2019; Reguera *et al.*,2018). They have been used in biomonitoring of trace elements or organic pollutants (Shefer *et al.*,2015; Viñas *et al.*,2018; Reguera *et al.*,2018; Pérez *et al.*,2019; El-Damhogy *et al.*,2019; Sánchez-Marín *et al.*,2022). Several studies have shown their high sensitivity to pollutants, sometimes even more important than the mussel sensitivity (Conti & Cecchetti, 2003; Bonacci *et al.*,2007; Reguera *et al.*,2018). For all previous reasons, *Patella sp.* was also used in this study through passive biomonitoring.

2.3. Biomarkers selected in this study

A multibiomarker method was performed to measure the exposure and assess the effect of contaminants on different metabolic functions of studied organisms.

As biomarkers of exposure, numerous well-established pollutants were selected: 18 trace elements and 43 organic pollutants (22 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), 14





polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and seven pesticides) (see section 3 of materials and methods).

As biomarkers of effects, 10 enzymatic activities involved in important metabolic processes and three energetic reserves compounds were used. They were all selected depending on physiological functions which are known to be impacted by chronic and diffuse pollution (Breitwieser *et al.*,2020; Lacroix *et al.*,2015).

The immune system was represented by laccases (LAC – EC 1.10.3.2 : p-diphenol oxidase) as part of the phenol oxidases family. It plays a key role in phagocytosis, capsule formations, nodules, and more generally in the modulation of immune response (Luna-Acosta *et al.*,2010, 2017a; Breitwieser *et al.*,2020).

Largely involved in the transmission of the nerve impulses, the acetylcholinesterase (ACHE – EC 3.1.1.7) was taken as neurotoxicity biomarker because its inhibition is described in literature to be linked with an exposure to pollutants such as pesticides or organophosphate, and more recently with a general stress of the organism (Lehtonen *et al.*,2006; Tsangaris *et al.*,2010).

Three biomarkers of energetic metabolism: lactate dehydrogenase (LDH – EC 1.1.1.27), pyruvate kinase (PK – EC 2.7.1.40) and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK – EC 4.1.1.49). Modulation of energetic metabolism is an important response to an external stress and is not sufficiently explored according to Lacroix *et al.* (2015). In literature, LDH activity has mostly been studied in fish organisms. Its activation occurs when a high amount of energy is required, typically in a case of oxidative stress. It is also a biomarker of tissue lesions, hypoxic conditions, and muscular harm (Amanullah *et al.*,2010; Sifi & Soltani, 2019). PK takes a key part in catalyzation of the late stage of glycolysis, consisting in conversion of phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) into pyruvate (Sussarellu *et al.*,2012; Lacroix *et al.*,2015). Finally, PEPCK is involved in the catalyzation of the decarboxylation of oxaloacetate into PEP: an anaerobic pathway of energy production which allows the synthesis of pyruvate. It is also involved in gluconeogenesis (Lacroix *et al.*,2015).

Finally, oxidative stress has extensively been studied as part of biomonitoring. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are formed by organisms consequently to a stress. Detrimental effects of this compounds are limited by the antioxidant defenses. If the ROS production exceeds the capacity of antioxidants to defend and repair tissues, an imbalance is created, and the organism undergoes oxidative stress, resulting for example in alteration of gene expression, tissues damage, osmoregulatory dysfunctions, or even apoptosis or necrosis (Livingstone, 2001;





Pellegrini & Baldari, 2009; Lushchak, 2011; Lacroix *et al.*,2015; Baag *et al.*,2021). Here, five enzymes involved in antioxidant defenses were evaluated. Glutathione peroxidase (GPX – EC 1.11.1.9), superoxide dismutase (SOD – EC 1.15.1.1) and catalase (CAT – EC 1.11.1.6) are directly involved in the maintenance of ROS normal levels. Briefly, after the conversion by SOD of superoxide anion ($O_2 \rightarrow$) into oxygen (O_2) or hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), CAT and/or GPX subsequently convert the latter molecules into water or oxygen molecules (Weydert & Cullen, 2010; Lacroix *et al.*,2015). Glutathione-S-transferase (GST – EC 2.5.1.18) is involved in phase-II xenobiotic detoxification process, toxin biotransformation, peroxidation and ROS inactivation (Lacroix *et al.*,2015; Breitwieser *et al.*,2020). Finally, as GST and GPX need a glutathione molecule as cofactors to process their detoxification reaction, glutathione reductase (GR – EC 1.6.4.2), involved in the reduction of oxidized glutathione (GSSG) is also considered as biomarkers of oxidative stress (Lushchak, 2011; Regoli & Giuliani, 2014).

In addition, lipids, protein, and glycogen are key energy storage compounds. Lipids metabolism is considered in the literature to be the main source of energy in anaerobic conditions, and a damage by peroxidation of membrane can be induce by high levels of ROS (Dailianis, 2011; Lushchak, 2011; Rocchetta *et al.*,2014). Protein also constitutes an important source of energy (Smolders *et al.*,2004). Glycogen is known to be rapidly consumed in response to an elevated basal maintenance linked to the exposure to contaminants (Lin *et al.*,2011; Falfushynska *et al.*,2019).

The Integrative Biomarker response (IBR) combines all biomarkers responses into a single index (Beliaeff & Burgeot, 2002). It offers a holistic and simpler interpretation of biomarkers responses to pollution induced stress. Described as a useful tool in ecotoxicology, it is therefore highly recommended (Serafim *et al.*,2012; Devin *et al.*,2014; Bertrand *et al.*,2018; Chahouri *et al.*,2022).

3. The QUAMPO project

Resulting from the collaboration of the LIENSs (Littoral Environnement et Sociétés) lab based at La Rochelle University and the STARESO (Station de Recherches Sous-Marines et Océanographiques) affiliated with the university of Liège, QUAMPO (QUality of the marine environment in the Mediterranean POrt areas) is a three-years (2019-2022) biomonitoring project. It aims to assess water quality of three North Corsican ports (Calvi, Île Rousse and St-Florent). Corsica constitutes the fourth largest Mediterranean Island (8682 km2) situated at about 170 km of continental France, 14 km of Sardinia and 90 km of continental Italy (Mouillot *et al.*,2008). Since 1950, because of a large urbanization and urban spawl of coast, agriculture





and rising coastal touristic activities, the island is marked by an exponential increase of threat directly linked with the coastal demographic pressure, especially during summer (Mouillot *et al.*,2008; Robert *et al.*,2019). For example, Cali and Île Rousse would have seen their population quadruple some summers (Renucci, 1962; Cancellieri & Maupertuis, 2016; Robert *et al.*,2019). According to Robert *et al.* (2019), they are still poorly protected. In Calvi, Île Rousse or St-Florent ports, living marine organisms face numerous anthropogenic pressures (appx. 1). This biomonitoring program was carried out through a integrative multi-biomarker approach, considered as more efficient and is increasingly used now in ecotoxicology (Rodrigo *et al.*,2013). This study was performed with a view to provide to local actors and decision makers tools and interpretation keys to better assess risks related to chemical contaminants in ports areas and better understand the damage suffered by coastal marine life exposed to chronic pollution.

4. Objectives

This master's thesis focuses on the acquisition, treatment, and analyses of the last sampling campaign of the QUAMPO project. The objectives can be divided into 3 sub-aims:

- Provide data / knowledge on the environmental quality in three North Corsican ports for the winter 2022 to help ports local actors to improve their management of ports areas and move towards more ecological practices.
- 2. Continue to gather additional information on the potential of *Patella sp.* as a valuable bioindicator of coastal water quality.
- Identify the more suitable biomarkers and bioindicators to follow as part of a North-western Mediterranean port biomonitoring.





MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Studied area

Four ports areas of North Corsica have been chosen for this study: Calvi (N $42^{\circ} 33' 59.116''$; E $8^{\circ} 45' 29.094''$), Île Rousse (N $42^{\circ} 33' 59.116''$; E $8^{\circ} 56' 7.778''$), St-Florent (N $42^{\circ} 40' 50.362''$; E $9^{\circ} 17' 54.373''$) ports and STARESO station in the Revellata bay (N $42^{\circ} 34' 49.584''$; E $8^{\circ} 43' 31.511''$), considered as reference port (fig. 1). The studied ports are marinas with a capacity of 250 places for Île Rousse (maximum boat's size = 30 m), 500 for Calvi (maximum boat's size = 65 m) and 950 places for St-Florent (maximum boat's size = 45 m). The reference site STARESO can accept 4 boats only in case of emergency. Away from any city, it is a preserved site.







2. Field sampling

During the QUAMPO project, samples were collected twice a year, in January and September. The present master thesis will focus on the last sampling collection, carried out in January 2022. It took place on 25th January 2022 at the STARESO station and Calvi port, and on 26th January 2022 at Île Rousse and St-Florent ports.

Temperature, salinity, pH and dissolved oxygen (DO) were measured in the water column (1 m deep). One water sample was taken in each location for chemical contamination analyses (trace elements and organic pollutants). Marine invertebrates were collected on each site to analyze the selected biomarkers of exposure and effects.

Wild limpets (n = 8-10 per site) were sampled (fig. 2, a) for biomarkers of effects analyses. Additional individuals were samples for the analyses of biomarkers of exposure (TE and organics pollutants) (n = 8 per site).

Because of their absence or scarcity in most of the ports (only founded in St-Florent), mussels *M. galloprovincialis* were purchased from the Diane salty pond ($42^{\circ} 07' 52,1'' N$, $9^{\circ} 32' 05,65'' E$, Corse, France). They were transplanted for one month before sampling (fig. 2, b). Two sub-locations were identified in each port: one near the gas station named "gas station condition" and one near the fairing place corresponding to "fairing condition" (fig. 1). This subdivision was created to see potential impact of an exposure to oil for gas station condition and to antifouling paint for the fairing condition. Thus, 70 individuals were sampled: 20 per port (10 at the gas station locations and 10 at the fairing area location), except for STARESO (n = 10) where no gas station or fairing place is present.

Immediately after collection, limpets and mussels were placed in dry ice and transferred to the LIENSs (La Rochelle University) laboratory, in France, for further analyses (fig. 2, c). Once in the lab, they were frozen at -80°C until analyses. The samples reserved for the analyses of biomarkers of exposure (TE, organic pollutants) were kept at -20 °C.



Figure 2: Photos of the sampling and transplantation procedures (© STARESO).





3. Analyses of biomarkers of exposure

All biomarkers of exposure (traces elements and organics pollutants) measurement were performed as part of the QUAMPO project, but independently of the present master's thesis. For this assessment, additional mussels and limpets were collected during the sampling period and the analyses were made on pools of individuals, one pool per species and per port, giving only one measurement. This method prevents any statistical analyses, but provides general trends of the exposition of the studied invertebrates to marine pollutants (Turle & Collins, 1992; Breitwieser *et al.*,2018).

3.1. Trace elements

Traces elements analyses were sent to the Centre d'analyses élémentaires of the La Rochelle University for analyses. A total of 18 TE contents in water and tissues were analyzed: aluminum (Al); silver (Ag); arsenic (As); barium (Ba); cadmium (Cd), cobalt (Co), chromium (Cr); copper (Cu); iron (Fe); manganese (Mn); molybdenum (Mo); nickel (Ni); lead (Pb); antimony (Sb); selenium (Se); tin (Sn); vanadium (V) and zinc (Zn).

Briefly, soft tissues of six to seven limpets per port (mean \pm SD length = 36.8 \pm 4.7 mm) and of eight mussels per sub-location (n_{total} =16 per port, average length = 73.3 \pm 6.9 mm) were ground and pools were created per species and locations. After digestion of the samples and two references (DOLT-5, dogfish liver and TORT-3, lobster hepatopancreas, National Research Council Canada), TE bioaccumulation was analyzed thanks to an ICP-OES Vista-Pro (Varian Inc., Palo Alto, California, USA) and an ICP-MS XSeries 2 (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA). Results are expressed in µg.g⁻¹ of wet weight for organisms and in µg.L⁻¹ for water samples.

3.2. Organics pollutants

Measurements of organics pollutants were given to the "Centre de Documentation, de Recherche et d'Expérimentations sur les Pollutions Accidentelles des Eaux" (CEDRE), in Brest (France). Concentration of the following 22 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), 14 polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and 7 pesticides were analyses in soft tissues of limpet and mussels: naphthalene, benzothiophene, biphenyl, acenaphthylene, acenaphthene, fluorene, dibenzothiophene, phenanthrene, anthracene, fluoranthene, 2-methylfluoranthene, pyrene, benzo(a)anthracene, chrysene, benzo(b)fluoranthene, benzo(k)fluoranthene, benzo(e)pyrene, benzo(a,h)anthracene, benzo(g,h,i)perylene, PCB 7, PCB 28, PCB 52, PCB 35, PCB 101, PCB 77, PCB 135, PCB





118, PCB 153, PCB 105, PCB 138, PCB 156, PCB 180, PCB 169, hexachlorobenzene, aldrine, isodrine, 2-4-DDE, 4-4-DDE, dieldrine and endrine. The same "pools" methods as for TE measurements were chosen and samples were assessed by stir bar sorptive extraction-thermal desorption-gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (SBSEGC-MS/MS) following Lacroix et al. (2014) method. The limits of quantification were calculated according to Shrivastava & Gupta (2011). Results are expressed in ng.g⁻¹ of dry weight.

A more precise version of protocols for biomarker of exposure analyses is available in appx. 3 for trace elements and in appx. 4 for organics pollutants.

4. Analyses of biomarkers of effects

Once at the lab, morphometrics and weights measurements were taken (length, width, thickness, weight, digestive gland weight for mussel and soft tissues weight for limpet). Then, soft tissues of limpets were used for biomarkers analyses, whereas only the digestive gland was selected for mussels. The high capacity of the digestive gland to accumulate pollutants and its participation in immune defense, detoxification, homeostatic regulation or even xenobiotic metabolism makes it an organ of choice in ecotoxicology (Fasulo *et al.*, 2012).

Tissues were ground in liquid nitrogen using a MM400 Retsch^{\bigcirc} (GmbH, Éragny, Luxembourg) mixer mill (fig. 3). Samples reserved for energetic stocks analyses (total lipids and glycogen contents) were hand homogenized on ice in 1 mL of citrate buffer (0.1 M, pH 5). Half was directly kept at - 80°C for lipids analyses, and the other half, reserved for glycogen analyses, was incubated 4 min in boiling water (~ 100°C) before being placed at - 80°C.

Samples reserved for enzymatic analyses were hand homogenized on ice in one volume of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (100 mM, pH 7.5) containing 0.1 % Triton X-100 and 1 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), to limit protein degradation. They were centrifuged at 12500 g at 4°C for 15 min (Sorvall Legeng Micro 17R, ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA). The supernatant was collected and divided into 8 aliquots and kept at - 80°C until further protein and enzymatic analyses.

Then, 12 biomarkers of effects were measured: 10 enzymatic biomarkers and two biomarkers of energetic stocks. Protein, glycogen, ACHE, LDH, PK, PEPCK, CAT, GPX, GST and GR analysis were performed in duplicates, and in triplicates for lipids, SOD and LAC. If necessary, dilution of homogenates was done to obtain linear slopes for 5 min minimum at 25°C. Values of total enzymatic activities measured during the lab were a posteriori normalized





by protein concentration to obtain specific activities values expressed in U.mg⁻¹ of protein. All chemicals used come from Sigma-Aldrich®.



Figure 3: Photos of tissues preparation before the analyses of biomarkers of effects (©Lise LE VERN, University of Liège)

For each enzyme analyzed, all reaction equations, the associated based-literature references, and the final principle of each biomarker of effects are given in the table 2. As all enzyme activity methods were adapted for this study, a precise version of all performed protocols can be found in <u>appx. 2</u>. Measurements were done on a SpectroStar Nano spectrophotometer with UV microplates (BMG labtech, Champigny-sur-Marne, France).

The same methodology of sampling was carried out in January and September 2021 and in September 2020. Thus, all two-year data will be integrated into the present study.





Table 2: Reaction equations and bibliographic references of the measurement methods for each biomarker of effects.

	Reaction equation	Simplified final measurement	Bibliographic references
Protein	_	Total concentration of protein	Lowry <i>et al.</i> ,1951
Glycogen	-	Total concentration of glycogen	Carr & Neff, 1984
Lipids	-	Total concentration of lipids	Frings <i>et al.</i> ,1972
ACHE	acetylcholine \xrightarrow{AChE} thiocholine + acetate thiocholine + DTNB \longrightarrow 5-thio-2-nitrobenzoate	5-thio-2-nitrobenzoate production. Absorbance read at 405 nm, every 30 sec for 6 min	Ellman <i>et al.</i> ,1961
LDH	pyruvate + NADH + H ⁺ \longrightarrow lactate + NAD ⁺	NADH consumption. Absorbance read at 340 nm, every 30 sec for 6 min	Childress & Somero, 1979; Bailey <i>et al.</i> ,2005
РК	phosphoenolpyruvate + ADP \xrightarrow{PK} pyruvate + ATP pyruvate + NADH + H ⁺ \xrightarrow{LDH} lactate + NAD ⁺	NADH consumption. Absorbance read at 340 nm, every 30 sec for 6 min	Childress & Somero, 1979; Bailey <i>et al.</i> ,2005
PEPCK	Oxaloacetate + H_2O + $GTP \longrightarrow$ phosphoenolpyruvate + HCO^{3-} + GDP L-Malate + $NAD^{-} \longrightarrow NADH$ + Oxaloacetate	NADH consumption. Absorbance read at 340 nm, every 30 sec for 6 min	Petrescu <i>et al.</i> ,1979; Jamieson <i>et al.</i> ,1999
SOD	$H_2O_2: 2 O_2 \bullet - + H^+ \longrightarrow O_2 + H_2O_2$	NADH oxidation. Absorbance read at 340 nm, every 5 min for 1 h 10 min	Paoletti et al.,1986
САТ	$H_2O_2 \xrightarrow{CAT} \frac{1}{2}O_2 + H_2O_2$	H ₂ O ₂ consumption. Absorbance read at 240 nm, every 30 sec for 6 min	Aebi, H., 1984





	Reaction equation	Simplified final measurement	Bibliographic references
GPX	$H_{2}O_{2} + 2 \text{ glutathionnes (GSH)} \xrightarrow{\text{GPx}} 2 \text{ H}_{2}O + \text{glutathionne disulfide (GSSG)}$ $GSSG + \text{NADPH} + \text{H}^{+} \xrightarrow{\text{GR}} 2 \text{ GSH} + \text{NADP}^{+}$	NADPH consumption by GR. Absorbance read at 340 nm, every 30 sec for 6 min	Paglia & Valentine, 1967; Janssens <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> ,2000
GST	$GSH + 1$ -chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzène (cDNB) \xrightarrow{GST} glutathionyl-dinitrobenzene (GS-DNB) + HCl	GS-DNB production. Absorbance read at 340 nm, every 30 sec for 6 min	Habig <i>et al.</i> ,1974
GR	$GSSG + NADPH + H^{+} \xrightarrow{GR} 2 GSH + NADP^{+}$	NADPH consumption. Absorbance read at 340 nm, every 30 sec for 6 min	Calberg, I. & Mannervik, B., 1985
LAC	<i>p</i> -phenylenediamine + $O_2 \xrightarrow{LAC} H_2O + p$ -benzo-quinone diimine	<i>p</i> -phenylenediamine consumption. Absorbance read at 420 nm, every 5 min for 2h	Pomerantz, 1963; Luna- Acosta <i>et al.</i> ,2010





5. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using R version 4.2.0 and RStudio 2022.02.3 (see R script in appx 5). First, Pearson's correlation was used to verify good correlation between total and specific enzymatic activities. This was intended to allow the continuation of data treatment on specific activity only. Other Pearson correlation tests were done between morphometric measurements, physicochemical parameters, and biomarkers, in addition to parametric one-way analyses of variance (ANOVA), used to highlight any significant differences of these parameters between sites.

In order to compare the effect of location on enzyme specific activity, a one-way ANOVA was carried out for each species separately, followed by Tukey post-hoc. Conditions of normality and homoscedasticity of the residuals of ANOVAs were tested with Shapiro-Wilk test and Levene's test, respectively. When needed, data were log10 transformed so that normality conditions were respected. In case of heteroscedasticity of residuals even with transformed data, a Kruskal-Wallis test was performed, followed by Dunn's post-hoc test. If there were only heteroscedasticity, a Fisher post-hoc test was used after ANOVA. For mussels, a two-way ANOVA permitted firstly to test the effect of "site" and "condition" and their interaction. For all statistical tests, the level of significance was set at 0.05.

The Integrated Biomarker response index (IBR) was finally calculated according to Devin *et al.* (2014) initially developed by Beliaeff & Burgeot (2002). Calculation of this index was done thanks to the IBRtools package. Briefly, a 4 steps calculation based on each biomarker standardized mean permit to build a star plot of the different biomarker responses (from 3 up to 9 biomarkers) for each species. Computation of the star plot area gave a value: the IBR. Here, only based on biomarkers of effect, an increasing IBR value was interpreted as an increase of stress in the given environmental conditions. This tool allows easy interpretation keys for each species in the 2022 sampling. To assess any differences between ports, a Kruskal-Wallis test was finally done because of heteroscedasticity of residuals, followed by Dunn's post-hoc test.

All measures were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD).

Finally, no statistical analysis was performed on trace element and organics pollutant 2022's data as these measurements were done on pools of individuals. Those data only provide general trends to help the interpretation of biomarkers of effect.





RESULTS

1. Morphometrics measurements

For mussel width $(35.47 \pm 3.15 \text{ mm})$ and digestive gland weight $(1.06 \pm 0.3 \text{ g})$, no significant differences between locations were found (table 3). However, mussels from Calvi were significantly longer than those from the other ports (table 3) (ANOVA, F = 4.90; p = 0.004), but also the thickest and the heaviest (ANOVA, thickness: F = 4.87; p = 0.003 and weight: F = 9.78; p = 1.999e^{-05}, respectively). For those three parameters significantly different among locations, if individuals from Calvi always presented the most important average values, specimens from St-Florent almost always showed the lowest ones. Only width and digestive gland weight average were lowest for mussels from Île Rousse (table 3).

Regarding limpet, two of the three morphometrics measurements (width, and weight) showed significant differences between ports (AVOVA, F = 4.90; p = 0.006 and F = 4.19; p = 0.012, respectively) (table 3). For this species, individuals from St-Florent were also globally the smallest. On the contrary, organisms from STARESO were the biggest one, up to almost 3-fold heavier than those coming from Île Rousse.

		Musse	els	Limpets					
	STARESO	Calvi	Île Rousse	St Florent	STARESO	Calvi	Île Rousse	St Florent	
Longth (mm)	$73.73 \pm$	76.83	$71.50\pm$	$70.06 \pm$	$36.77 \pm$	$35.37 \pm$	$32.52 \pm$	$31.82 \pm$	
Length (mm)	6.56 ^{ab}	$\pm 6.34^a$	5.57 ^b	5.49 ^b	4.43	4.60	4.04	3.79	
Width (mm)	35.64 ± 2.98	36.98	$34.67 \pm$	$34.69 \pm$	$32.07 \pm$	$29.12 \pm$	$27.01 \pm$	$25.71 \pm$	
width (mm)		± 3.75	2.75	2.53	2.71 ^a	5.45 ^{ab}	3.90 ^{ab}	2.33 ^b	
Thickness	$23.92 \pm$	24.89	$23.14 \pm$	$22.46 \pm$					
(mm)	2.00^{ab}	$\pm2.63^{a}$	1.87 ^b	1.12 ^b	-	-	-	-	
XX • 1 / / >	$20.00 \pm$	22.76	$17.64 \pm$	$16.36 \pm$	$2.93 \pm$	$1.80 \pm$	$1.38 \pm$	$1.70 \pm$	
weight (g)	4.60 ^{ab}	$\pm4.70^{\mathrm{a}}$	3.62 ^b	3.20 ^b	1.15 ^a	1.05 ^{ab}	0.62 ^b	0.52 ^b	
Digestive gland weight (g)	1.16 ± 0.23	1.15 ± 0.32	$\begin{array}{c} 0.96 \pm \\ 0.20 \end{array}$	1.01 ± 0.36	-	-	-	-	

Table 3: Average morphometric measurements of *M. galloprovincialis* and *Patella sp.* collected in the four North Corsican studied ports in January 2022. Grey cells highlight the data when a significant difference was found (p-value < 0.05).





2. Biomarkers of exposure

In total, 18 TEs, 22 PAHs, 14 PCBs, and 7 pesticides have been analyzed in pools of organisms (table 4 and 5). As no pesticides were measured above the detection limits. They are not presented.

2.1. Trace elements

In mussel, STARESO presented the most important value only for Ba. In organisms collected at Calvi, quite important concentrations of Cu were observed compared to the other sites. A value about 3.5-fold more important in Île Rousse's faring area ($2.06 \ \mu g.g^{-1}$) than near its gas station ($0.58 \ \mu g.g^{-1}$) can be noticed. The highest values of As, Cd, Mn and Zn were found at Île Rousse. Relatively high values of Al, Fe, Mn, Ni and Se were observed at St-Florent compared to the other locations. In general, this latter port, which presented the highest values for 7 of the 18 TE measured in mussel's tissues, seemed to be the most contaminated.

In limpet, the TE pattern was completely different from the mussel one. The most contaminated port was STARESO with the highest values measured for 6 of the 18 ETs investigated (Ag, As, Ba, Cd, Mo, Sb). Relatively important Cu concentration $(0.43 \ \mu g.g^{-1})$ was found in this port, representing more than 2-fold the Cu concentration observed at Île Rousse and more than 5-fold those of Calvi and St-Florent. For limpet's tissues also, Calvi showed the highest Cu concentration. Île Rousse presented the highest value of the four sites for Fe, Pb and particularly Al. Finally, compared to other ports, St-Florent presented the highest concentrations only for Co, Mn, and Ni. It presented the lowest values for 11 of the 18 TEs measured and was thus the less contaminated port, consistent with IBR mean value found in January 2022 for limpet at St Florent (see section 4).

2.2. Organic pollutants

Regarding the organic pollution, no pesticides were detected in North Corsica in January 2022. PAHs were mainly found in limpet's tissues, in all ports but especially in Calvi and Île Rouse. The two principal PAHs detected everywhere were the naphthalene and the phenanthrene, with higher levels at Calvi. For mussels, only four PAHs were detected in very low concentration in the fairing zone of Île Rousse. In this species, PCB 153 and 138 were found in tissues collected in the four studied ports, and PBC 101, 135 and 156 were found in addition at STARESO. In limpet tissues, some PCBs were only detected at STARESO (PBC 135, 153, 138, 156, 180). Notice that values are generally very low.





			Ι	Mussel					_ Reglementary			
	STARESO	С	alvi	Île F	Rousse	St F	lorent	STARESO	Calvi	Île Rousse	St Florent	maximum levels
		Oil	Fairing	Oil	Fairing	Oil	Fairing					$- (mg.kg^{-1})$
Ag	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.05	0.02	< 0.01	< 0.01	
Al	2.91	9.14	7.62	3.41	5.67	18.07	13.8	59.19	54.21	132.08	19.24	
As	1.63	1.51	1.27	1.57	1.71	1.62	1.12	5.83	3.13	5.32	2.12	
Ba	0.06	0.04	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.28	0.13	0.17	0.07	
Cd	0.11	0.08	0.09	0.10	0.09	0.08	0.04	0.43	0.08	0.18	0.06	1
Со	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.04	0.02	0.07	0.06	0.10	0.12	
Cr	0.07	0.11	0.14	0.1	0.11	0.24	0.16	0.43	0.46	0.46	0.31	
Cu	0.61	4.9 7	4.69	0.58	2.06	1.60	2.30	2.48	14.97	6.52	3.06	
Fe	7.13	19.19	15.20	7.95	12.55	31.12	23.27	356.06	286.12	406.83	121.87	
Mn	0.36	0.42	0.34	0.29	0.42	0.79	0.75	0.86	0.87	1.06	2.18	
Мо	0.04	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.18	0.10	0.12	0.09	
Ni	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.16	0.10	0.47	0.30	0.26	0.47	
Pb	0.07	0.09	0.07	0.06	0.07	0.05	0.04	0.93	0.57	1.02	0.05	1.5
Sb	< 0.04	< 0.04	< 0.04	< 0.04	< 0.04	< 0.04	< 0.04	< 0.04	< 0.04	< 0.04	< 0.04	
Se	0.35	0.26	0.2	0.22	0.24	0.62	0.33	2.27	2.03	2.05	0.93	
Sn	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	< 0.02	0.03	< 0.02	< 0.02	
\mathbf{V}	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	1.21	< 1	< 1	
Zn	18.71	16.82	15.81	14.04	17.03	16.06	9.51	11.27	32.55	23.42	10.38	

Table 4: Trace elements concentration (in μ g.g⁻¹ of wet weight) in soft tissue of *M. galloprovincialis* and *Patella sp.* (1 pool of 8 individuals per port). Numbers in bold are the highest values for each species. Reglementary maximum levels presented only concern bivalve mollusks.





Table 5: Organic pollutants concentration (ng.g⁻¹ of wet weight) in soft tissue of *M. galloprovincialis* and *Patella sp.* (1 pool of 8 individuals per port). < LD = below the detection limit. < LQ = below the quantification limit. To help table reading, numbers in red represent values egal or above 1.0 ng/g.

			Mussel						Limpet				Reglementary
		STARESO	(Calvi	Île	Rousse	St F	lorent	STARESO	Calvi	Île Rousse	St Florent	- maximum levels
			Oil	Fairing	Oil	Fairing	Oil	Fairing					$(\mu g.kg^{-1})$
	naphthalene	< LD	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LQ	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	5.4	10.5	8.2	6.6	
	benzothiophene	< LD	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	
	biphenyl	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	0.5	
	acenaphthylene	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	
	acenaphthene	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< LQ	< LQ	< <i>LD</i>	1.9	< LD	< LD	
	fluorene	< LD	< LQ	< <i>LD</i>	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	0.4	2.7	< LQ	< LQ	
	dibenzothiophene	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LQ	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	0.7	< LD	< LD	
	phenanthrene	< LD	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	0.7	< LD	< LQ	1.2	11.5	7.1	2.9	
DAIL	anthracene	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	1.0	0.7	< LQ	
PAHS	fluoranthene	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LQ	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	0.8	< LD	< LD	
	2-methylfluoranthene	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LQ	< LD	< LQ	< <i>LD</i>	1.0	2.6	0.9	
	pyrene	< LD	0.1	0.1	< LD	0.2	< LD	< LQ	< <i>LD</i>	< LQ	0.2	< LD	
	benzo(a)anthracene	< LD	< LQ	< LQ	< LD	0.3	< LD	0.1	< <i>LD</i>	0.2	0.9	< LD	10*
	chrysene	< LD	< LQ	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	0.8	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< LQ	3.8	< LD	10*
	benzo(b)fluoranthene	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LQ	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< LD	10*
	benzo(k)fluoranthene	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LQ	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	0.9	< LD	
	benzo(e)pyrene	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LQ	< LD	< <u>LD</u>	< <i>LD</i>	< LQ	1.9	< LD	
	benzo(a)pyrene	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LQ	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LQ	< LD	5





				Mussel					Limpet				Reglementary
		STARESO	(Calvi	Île	Rousse	St F	lorent	STARESO	Calvi	Île Rousse	St Florent	- maximum levels
			Oil	Fairing	Oil	Fairing	Oil	Fairing					(µg.kg ⁻¹)
	perylene	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	
	indeno(1,2,3- <i>cd</i>)pyrene	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	
	dibenzo(a.h)anthracene	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	
	benzo(g.h.i)perylene	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LQ	< LD	
	PCB 7	< LD	< LD	0.0	< <u>LD</u>	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< <u>LD</u>	< LD	< LD	_
	PCB 28	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	
	PCB 52	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	
	PCB 35	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	
	PCB 101	0.7	< LQ	< LD	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	0.4	< LQ	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	
	PCB 77	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LQ	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	
DCDs	PCB 135	0.2	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	<LD	< LQ	0.1	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	75**
TCDS	PCB 118	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	< <i>LD</i>	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	< LD	15
	PCB 153	2.1	0.9	< LQ	< LQ	0.8	< LQ	1.0	2.3	< LQ	< LQ	< LD	
	PCB 105	< LQ	< LD	< LQ	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LQ	< LD	< LQ	< LQ	< LD	
	PCB 138	2.5	0.9	< LQ	< LQ	0.9	< LQ	1.0	2.0	< LQ	< LQ	< LD	
	PCB 156	0.1	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LQ	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	0.1	< <i>LD</i>	< LQ	< LD	
	PCB 180	< LQ	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LQ	< <i>LD</i>	< LD	< LQ	1.1	< LQ	< LQ	< LD	
	PCB 169	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LQ	< LD	

* Correspond to the sum of benzo(a)pyrene. benzo(a)anthracene. benzo(b)fluoranthene and chrysene. ** Correspond to the sum of PCB28, PCB52, PCB138, PCB14 and PCB180.





3. Biomarkers of effect

For each species, biomarkers measured showed significant correlation between total and specific enzymatic activity (correlation coefficient between 0.55 and 0.94 depending on the biomarkers. p < 0.001), except for LDH (correlation coefficient = 0.338; p = 0.05) (appx. 6). Here are only presented specific activity assessments for January 2022 sampling. Total activity can be found in appx. 7.

3.1. Two-way ANOVA tests

For mussel's biomarkers, a two-way ANOVA was performed to test, in addition to the effect of sites (ports) and intra-ports conditions ("gas station" and "fairing" conditions), their interactions (table 6).

Significant effects of the two factors had been highlighted in protein concentration and GST activity (fig. 4). The concentration was higher in the fairing zone of Calvi port while the lowest values were found in the gas station zone of Île Rousse. For GST activity, on the contrary, the highest values were found in the faring zone for Île Rousse, and the lowest ones in organisms collected in the faring zone of St Florent. For the log-transformed CAT activity, Tukey posthoc test didn't show any contrasts, and is therefore not presented.

The statistical test detected an interaction between the two factors (site + conditions) on PK (F = 3.9698; p = 0.02486), GR (F = 3.6220; p = 0.03444) and SOD (F = 4.3671; p = 0.01822) specific activity.



Figure 4: Significant results provided by a two-way ANOVA regarding site and conditions factors. The test was performed for the digestive gland of *M. galloprovincialis* (n = 20) and soft tissues of limpets (n = 7-10) collected in January 2022. Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. For each species, letters indicate significant differences between ports (ANOVA test followed by Tukey's post-hoc test, with p-value < 0.05).





Table 6: Results of two-way ANOVA performed to test the effect of sites and conditions in biomarkers of effects of *M. galloprovincialis* digestive gland collected in January 2022.

	Factor	F ratio	p value	Interaction p-value
Protein*	Site	3.44	0.039*	
	Condition	6.22	0.016*	
Glycogen	Site	0.19	0.829	
	Condition	3.76	0.059	
Lipids	Site	0.13	0.877	
	Condition	1.11	0.298	
Log 10 transformed	Site	0.14	0.871	0.025*
PK	Condition	0.66	0.19	
PEPCK	Site	2.17	0.125	
	Condition	0.05	0.818	
GPX	Site	3.06	0.061	
	Condition	0.28	0.598	
GST*	Site	9.85	< 0.001*	
	Condition	0.91	0.345	
GR	Site	1.12	0.336	0.034*
	Condition	0.99	0.325	
LAC	Site	1.71	0.19	
	Condition	0.82	0.37	
SOD	Site	2.23	0.119	0.018*
	Condition	0.32	0.574	
Log 10 transformed	Site	4.11	0.023*	
CAT	Condition	0.09	0.769	
ACHE	Site	0.38	0.688	
	Condition	0.03	0.865	

As the two-way ANOVAS didn't provide many results regarding the condition factors and interactions between the two factors, a one-way ANOVA for each factor separately was also performed, presented in following results. However, it is important to keep in mind that any significant results from one-way ANOVA tested for the two factors (site + conditions) on PK, GR, and SOD specific activity can't be interpreted by associating the response directly to the factor tested, as it could be the response of the interaction between factors.

3.2. One-way ANOVA tests

3.2.1. Gas station and fairing conditions

Except at STARESO, an intra-ports subdivision has been done in all the studied ports to test the effect of the two conditions (gas station and faring zone), using an active biomonitoring by mussels caging.

At Calvi, mussels located in the fairing zone were significantly more concentrated in protein $(28.54 \pm 6.47 \text{ mg.g}^{-1} \text{ of wet weight})$ than those placed near the gas station $(22.90 \pm 4.03 \text{ mg.g}^{-1})$





¹ of wet weight) (ANOVA, F = 5.48; p = 0.030). They also presented significantly higher lipids concentration near the fairing zones ($12.20 \pm 5.72 \text{ mg.g}^{-1}$ of wet weight) compared to the gas station ($7.03 \pm 3.42 \text{ mg.g}^{-1}$ of wet weight) (ANOVA, F = 5.68; p = 0.029).

At Île Rousse, one-way ANOVA tests didn't show any significant variation between conditions.

Finally, at St-Florent, SOD specific activity was significantly higher in mussels located in the fairing zone (15.78 ± 5.58 U.mg⁻¹ of protein) compared to those placed near the gas station (9.01 ± 6.62 U.mg⁻¹ of protein) (ANOVA, F = 5.85; p = 0.027).

3.2.2. Energetic stocks concentration

For each species, the energetic stocks contents (glycogen, lipids, and protein) followed a quite different trend between ports (fig. 5).

In mussels, protein concentration showed significantly higher mean values at STARESO $(29.50 \pm 6.39 \text{ mg.g}^{-1})$ (ANOVA, F = 4.58; p = 0.005). The least concentrated have been collected at Île Rousse $(21.40 \pm 5.48 \text{ mg.g}^{-1})$. For this species, lipids and glycogen contents weren't significantly different among locations. However, their highest values were found at STARESO (fig. 5).

The glycogen content of limpets from STARESO $(9.45 \pm 3.56 \text{ mg.g}^{-1})$ were almost 200% more concentrated than those from Calvi $(5.59 \pm 2.66 \text{ mg.g}^{-1})$ (ANOVA, F = 3.01; p = 0.045).

Regarding lipids concentration, no significant inter-location differences were observed in any species, However, the gap between mussels and limpet's values can be noticed. Mussel's tissues were about 2-fold more concentrated in lipids than limpet's tissues.

Furthermore, lipids and glycogen were slightly correlated to water temperature (Pearson correlation's coefficient of -0.528 for lipids and -0.518 for glycogen) (appx. 6).






Figure 5: Glycogen, lipids, and protein concentration (mg.g⁻¹ of wet weight) in the digestive gland of *M.* galloprovincialis (n = 20) and soft tissues of *Patella sp.* (n = 7-10) for each site and collected in January 2022. Values are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. For each species, letters indicate significant differences between ports (ANOVA test followed by Tukey's post-hoc test, with p-value < 0.05).

3.2.3. Biomarkers of energetic metabolism (LDH, PK, PEPCK)

Specific activity of LDH, PK and PEPCK of mussels and limpets collected in North Corsica ports in January 2022 are displayed in figure 6.

In mussels, PK and PEPCK specific activities remained stable between locations, with respective values of $14.74 \pm 4.86 \text{ mU.mg}^{-1}$ of protein, and $11.23 \pm 6.18 \text{ mU.mg}^{-1}$ of protein.

In limpets, only PK varied significantly between ports (ANOVA, F = 3.98; p = 0.018). The highest PK specific activities were found for specimens sampled at STARESO (49.25 ± 13.00 mU.mg⁻¹ of protein), while the lowest values were calculated at Calvi (28.29 ± 11.46 mU.mg⁻¹ of protein) and St-Florent (24.12 ± 12.68 mU.mg⁻¹ of protein). No significant differences of LDH (mean of 6.58 ± 1.44 mU.mg⁻¹ of protein) and PEPCK (3.39 ± 0.95 mU.mg⁻¹ of protein) among locations were observed for this species.







Figure 6: Biomarkers of energetic metabolism assessed in the digestive gland of *M. galloprovincialis* (n = 20) and soft tissues of *Patella sp.* (n = 7-10) collected in each port in January 2022. Pyruvate kinase (PK), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) specific activities are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. in mU/mg of protein. For each species, letters indicate significant differences between ports (ANOVA test followed by Fisher's post-hoc test, p-value < 0.05).

3.2.4. Biomarkers of antioxidants defenses (GR, GPX, GST, SOD, CAT)

Five biomarkers of antioxidants defenses were measured for each species in North Corsica ports in January 2022 (fig. 7).

Two biomarkers responded significantly in mussel's tissues. The GST activity showed its highest values at STARESO and Île Rousse (9.72 \pm 1.81 mU.mg⁻¹ of protein and 10.32 \pm 1.95 mU.mg⁻¹ of protein. respectively), and its lowest ones at St-Florent (7.15 \pm 2.13 mU.mg⁻¹ of protein) (ANOVA. F = 7.16; p = 0.0003). Regarding CAT specific activity, highest values were found at Île Rousse (0.69 \pm 0.21 U.mg⁻¹ of protein) whereas STARESO and St-Florent presented the lowest mean (0.49 \pm 0.22 U.mg⁻¹ of protein, and 0.50 \pm 0.19 U.mg⁻¹ of protein, respectively) (ANOVA, F = 3.74; p = 0.016). Statistical analyses didn't detect any significant differences among ports for GR (5.96 \pm 1.32 U.mg⁻¹ of protein), GPX (2.38 \pm 1.04 mU.mg⁻¹ of protein), and SOD (15.88 \pm 8.86 U.mg⁻¹ of protein) specific activities.

In limpets, SOD was the only antioxidative enzyme of this category to provide significantly different responses among ports. Here, St-Florent specimens showed notable lower specific





activity (2.14 \pm 2.15 U.mg⁻¹ of protein) than those from STARESO, Calvi and Île Rousse (9.31 \pm 4.80; 10.68 \pm 5.06 and 9.31 \pm 2.39 U.mg⁻¹ of protein, respectively) (ANOVA, F = 8.376; p = 0.0003). CAT activity's trend remained stable even after log10 transformation (0.63 \pm 0.23 U.mg⁻¹ of protein). In general, lower values were observed at St-Florent for GPX, GST, SOD and CAT specific activity of mussels, and for GR, GPX and SOD specific activity of limpets, so a large part of the tested biomarkers of antioxidants defenses (fig. 7).

SOD and GST were correlated to water temperature (Pearson's correlation coefficient of - 0.510 for SOD and -0.629 for GST) (appx. 6).



Figure 7: Biomarkers of antioxidants defenses assessed in the digestive gland of *M. galloprovincialis* (n = 20) and soft tissues of *Patella sp.* (n = 7-10) collected in each port in January 2022. Specific activities of glutathione peroxidase (GPX) and glutathione-s-transferase (GST) (mU/mg of protein), glutathione reductase (GR), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and log transformed catalase (CAT) (U/mg of protein) are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. For each species, letters indicate significant differences between ports (ANOVA test followed by Tukey's post-hoc test, p-value < 0.05).





3.2.5. Biomarkers of immune system (LAC) and neurotoxicity (ACHE)

The two last biomarkers of effects assessed during this project were the LAC and the ACHE, respectively involved in immune system and neurotoxicity.

ACHE specific activity stayed stable among locations for both species $(1.76 \pm 0.55 \text{ mU.mg}^{-1} \text{ of protein for mussels and } 6.56 \pm 3.12 \text{ mU.mg}^{-1} \text{ of protein for limpets})$ (fig. 8).

LAC specific activity also remained stable between ports in limpet's tissues. For mussels, specific activity of this enzymes was higher at Calvi ($0.79 \pm 0.15 \text{ mU.mg}^{-1}$ of protein) and St-Florent ($0.79 \pm 0.16 \text{ mU.mg}^{-1}$ of protein) than STARESO ($0.59 \pm 0.13 \text{ mU.mg}^{-1}$ of protein) (ANOVA, F = 4.35; p = 0.007).

Furthermore, LAC was DO and temperature correlated (correlation coefficient DO = 0.466; Temperature = -0.525) (appx. 6).



Figure 8: Biomarkers of immune system, acetylcholinesterase (ACHE) and neurotoxicity, laccase (LAC) assessed in the digestive gland of *M. galloprovincialis* (n = 20) and soft tissues of *Patella sp.* (n = 7-10) collected in each port in January 2022. Values represent specific activities expressed as mean \pm standard deviation, in mU/mg of protein. For each species, letters indicate significant differences between ports (ANOVA test followed by Tukey's post-hoc test, p-value < 0.05).

4. The integrated biomarker response (IBR)

4.1. January 2022 sampling

The IBR was assessed through seven biomarkers of effects for mussel (Glycogen, ACHE, CAT, SOD, LAC, GST, PK) and eight for limpet (Lipid, Glycogen, ACHE, SOD, LAC, GST, LDH, PK) (fig. 9.a and 9.b). Mean IBR values per port for the sampling period of January 2022 are presented in fig. 9.

For each species, St-Florent displayed the lowest IBR value (1.168 ± 0.7 for mussels and 0.236 ± 0.1 for limpets).





Mussel seemed to be more stressed at Île Rousse port (7.658 \pm 0.2), and the most stressed limpet were collected at STARESO (7.466 \pm 0.4). Finally, both species coming from Île Rousse presented higher IBR mean than those coming from Calvi.





Figure 9: (a). (b). Star plots of standardized response of a selection of biomarkers of effect in *M.* galloprovincialis and Patella sp., collected in North Corsica ports in January 2022. (c). Mean Integrated Biomarkers Responses (IBR, mean \pm standard deviation). For each species, letters indicate significant differences between ports (Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's post-hoc test. p-value < 0.05).





4.2. All sampling periods of the QUAMPO project

Finally, the table 7 gathers IBR mean values calculated on data acquired throughout the QUAMPO project.

Mussel's IBR provided a completely different trend for each sampling period. STARESO presented the highest value in September 2020, the lowest one in January 2021, and a decrease can be observed since September 2021. Individuals collected at Calvi always provide quite high value of IBR and were the most stressed in September 2021. If Île Rousse was the most stressful port for mussel in January 2022, it was not always the case. Since the beginning of the project, it presented values among the lowest, compared to the other ports. Finally, St-Florent appeared twice less stressful for this species (September 2020 and this year).

For limpet, since January 2021, the highest values of IBR have been calculated for individuals collected at STARESO, with values exceeding seven and increasing with time. In September 2020, it was at Calvi that limpet seemed to be the most stressed. At Calvi, limpet showed higher IBR values after summer (September months) than during winter (January months). Individuals coming from St-Florent also provided the lowest IBR value in January 2022, which means that the port would be a less stressful environment than the others this year, for this species. However, this was not always the case since he was second to last in the first two sampling of the project (September 2020 and January 2021). A downward trend of IBR value has been observed for this port since January 2021.

	Mussels				Limpets			
	STARESO	Calvi	Île Rousse	St Florent	STARESO	Calvi	Île Rousse	St Florent
September 2020	$\begin{array}{c} 3.978 \pm \\ 0.62^{a} \end{array}$	/	$\begin{array}{c} 2.386 \pm \\ 0.50^{\text{b}} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.533 \pm \\ 0.64^{\circ} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.128 \pm \\ 0.81^{\texttt{b}} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.748 \pm \\ 0.49^{d} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.026 \pm \\ 0.48^a \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.563 \pm \\ 0.78^{\circ} \end{array}$
January 2021	$\begin{array}{c} 0.556 \pm \\ 0.42^{a} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 5.976 \pm \\ 0.49^{\circ} \end{array}$	${}^{1.643\pm}_{0.91^{b}}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.674 \\ \pm \ 0.41^{d} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 7.288 \pm \\ 0.74^{\rm d} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.989 \pm \\ 0.32^a \end{array}$	${\begin{array}{c} 1.158 \pm \\ 0.71^{b} \end{array}}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.997 \pm \\ 0.61^{\circ} \end{array}$
September 2021	$\begin{array}{c} 2.950 \pm \\ 0.83^{\circ} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.144 \pm \\ 0.76^{d} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.978 \pm \\ 0.63^a \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.509 \pm \\ 0.57^{\text{b}} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 7.388 \pm \\ 0.14^{d} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.270 \pm \\ 0.85^{\circ} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.206 \pm \\ 0.43^{a} \end{array}$	2.981 ± 1.23^{b}
January 2022	1.803 ± 1.12 ^b	$\begin{array}{c} 4.376 \pm \\ 0.4^c \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 7.659 \pm \\ 0.3^{d} \end{array}$	1.168 ± 0.77^{a}	$\begin{array}{c} 7.466 \pm \\ 0.46^{\text{d}} \end{array}$	${\begin{array}{c} 3.038 \pm \\ 1.07^{b} \end{array}}$	5.152 ± 0.42°	$\begin{array}{c} 0.236 \pm \\ 0.13^a \end{array}$

Table 7: Integrated biomarkers response (IBR, mean \pm SD) calculated for *M. galloprovincialis* and *Patella sp.* using biomarkers of effects analyzed since the beginning of QUAMPO project (data from September 2020, January 2021 and September 2021 communicated by Pillet, M.). For each species, different colors permit an easier ready read of the table, from the lightest (white) to the darkest values going from the lowest to the highest respectively.





DISCUSSION

As part of the QUAMPO project, this master thesis provides supplementary data on the first biomonitoring applied in Calvi, Île Rousse and St-Florent using a multibiomarker approach of two different species. A combination of native (limpet) and transplanted (mussel) organisms was used to better integrate real concentrations of contaminants and their biological effects, as recommended by several authors (Nigro *et al.*,2006; Marigómez *et al.*,2013; Lacroix *et al.*,2015).

1. Active biomonitoring of mussels in North Corsican ports

1.1. Inter-ports chemical contamination (ET, organics pollutants)

A "pool" sampling technique has been used to determine element traces and organics pollutants concentrations in the two studied models. This technique, allowing to have reliable general trend of contamination of the different sites at lower costs, were validated by other study and even tested and validated at the start of the QUAMPO project (Martincié *et al.*, 1984; Turle & Collins, 1992; Breitwieser *et al.*, 2018). Notice that this technique still present inconvenient as extreme or abnormal values can't be detected.

In most studies, only principal TE (Cu, Ni, Cd, Cr, Pb or Zn, Fe, V) known as highly toxics if present in tissues in large concentrations (Conti & Cecchetti, 2003; Serafim et al., 2011; Cravo et al., 2012; Marigómez et al., 2013; Breitwieser et al., 2020) are monitored. In this study, the concentration of 18 TE was measured. In mussel, Ag, Sb, Sn and V was under the minimum detection limit. Ba, Co and Mo concentration values were also very low. The mean bioaccumulation pattern of most concentrated TE was Fe > Zn > Al > Cu > As > Mn > Se > Cr> Cd > Pb > Ni. Others studies observed a pattern of the most widely monitored TE equal to Fe > Zn > Mn > Cu > Ni > Cr > Pb > Cd (Roméo *et al.*,2003; Andral *et al.*,2004; Lafabrie *et* al.,2007; Richir & Gobert, 2014; Caricato et al.,2019). The observed pattern tends to show a possible contamination in Al and Cu of North Corsican ports in January 2022, since they are placed at higher ranks. Richir & Gobert (2014) already brought data from Corsican coast (table 8). When comparing their values with those measured as part of this master thesis, a notable increase of some TE concentrations since 2014 can be observed. A contamination in Al appeared at St-Florent and Calvi (measured values showed an increase of about 350% and 190%). In all sites except STARESO, Cu showed particularly high levels compared to the previous study (our mussels from Calvi presented Cu levels close to 15-fold higher, with mean concentration of 44.67 µg.g⁻¹ dry weight, against average of 3.05 µg.g⁻¹ of dry weight for Richir





and Gobert's study). The same conclusion can be made for Fe, with a mean concentration of 241.36 μ g.g⁻¹ of dry weight observed at St Florent, representing more than 2.7-fold higher than in mussels of 2014. The concentration in Cr also increased, whit a multiplication of about 8.5 in the most Cr concentrated site (St-Florent). The latter ports also showed a peak of Ni and Se, especially near its gas station, while a decrease trend was observed for these TE in recent years. Finally, Mn and Zn are also concerned by the increase of their levels since 2014. Mn concentrations jumped by a factor 3 at St-Florent, and concentration of Zn was for example 141.15 μ g.g⁻¹ dry weight at STARESO, the reference site. In all sites, neither Cd or Pb exceed the maximum levels fixed by Commission regulation (CE) No 1881/2006, but Cd didn't tend to decrease since 2014, and even reach concentration of 0.91 μ g.g⁻¹ dry weight in Ile Rousse this year.

Several studies also provided TE contamination data of mussel in Mediterranean Sea in general. Higher concentrations of Cu and Zn was observed in Cannes harbor on the French coast (Roméo *et al.*,2003). Similarly, Moroccan coast showed in 2018 Fe concentration 2-fold higher than St-Florent, and the Sicilian coast presented particularly high levels of Al, Ni, Pb and Cr compared to our measurements.

	Corsican Coast (Richir & Gobert, 2014)	French Mediterranean coast (Roméo et al., 2003)	Northern Moroccan coast (Azizi et al., 2018)	North-western Mediterranean coast (Lafabrie et al., 2007)	Sicilian coast (Caricato et al., 2019)
Ag	0.02	-	-	-	-
Al	40.0	-	-	-	621.5
As	13.55	-	-	-	-
Ba	-	-	-	-	-
Cd	0.75	0.76	0.75	1.4	1.67
Со	0.48	-	< LOQ	0.75	-
Cr	0.26	-	2.6	1.7	5.15
Cu	3.05	102.7	5.7	-	2.8
Fe	87.5	-	506.5	-	387
Mn	2.25	-	-	-	2.09
Мо	5.3	-	-	-	-
Ni	0.94	-	2.9	1.89	3.17
Pb	0.92	-	< LOQ	1.25	2.12
Sb	0.012	-	-	-	-
Se	3.15	-	-	-	-
Sn	0.02	-	-	-	-
V	1.4	-	-	-	-
Zn	119	261	162	-	184.5

Table 8: Example of mean bioaccumulation of trace elements (mean, $\mu g.g^{-1}$ of dry weight) in soft tissue of *Mytilus galloprovincialis* recorded by recent studies. < LOQ: below limit of quantification.





In summary, throughout the TE assessment of January 2022, higher concentrations were observed for 8 out of 18 TE. Mussels from Calvi seemed to be more contaminated in Cu than in 2014, but value remain in general lower than in some highly polluted sites. St-Florent, especially near its gas station presented mussels generally the most contaminated. This port was involved in almost all the peaks of contamination observed this here in North Corsica, except the Cu one. Further fields investigations, maybe by communication with marina managers, would be necessary to find the precise sources of these contaminations in North Corsican ports. Nevertheless, levels of TE found in the four studies ports remain low when compared with other site of the Mediterranean Sea.

PAHs and metallic trace elements are of concern because of their high toxicity, and their facility to be accumulated in tissues, especially of marine organisms such as mollusks (Lima *et al.*,2007; Lacroix *et al.*,2015). 16 of them are listed as priority pollutants by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (OFR, 1982; Yan *et al.*,2004; Lacroix *et al.*,2015). When accumulated in living tissues, they participate in the increase of ROS. This causes lipids peroxidation, protein oxidation or DNA damages, enzymes inhibition, change in gene regulation (Livingstone, 2001; Lima *et al.*,2007; Honda & Suzuki, 2020). PAHs can be carcinogenic, mutagenic and teratogenic and can disrupt endocrine equilibrium (Yan *et al.*,2004; Liu *et al.*,2012; Honda & Suzuki, 2020). In January 2022, Calvi's seawaters were the most contaminated in PAHs, with total concentration of 52.3 ng.L⁻¹ (appx. 9). The lowest concentration of PAHs in seawater was found in the reference site, STARESO (15.0 ng.L⁻¹).

In general, mussel's tissues showed really low PAHs values (concentration of 2 ng.g⁻¹ for the most contaminated site, the fairing area of Île Rousse). This makes it difficult for this species to reliably translate the general trend observed in water samples. It could be explained by the fact that organisms, used through active monitoring, were placed into ports only for one month. So, they provide only recent pollutions episode without integrate chemical pollutants over long periods. They may not have enough time to accumulate these compounds in sufficient concentration to be interpreted. According to several authors, three to four weeks would however be enough to reach an equilibrium between the levels of environmental and tissues pollutants (metals and organics pollutants) (Bolognesi *et al.*,2004; Andral *et al.*,2004; Nigro *et al.*,2006; Orbea & Cajaraville, 2006; Caricato *et al.*,2010). But these results concentrations in native mussels than in caged ones, and explain this difference by the possibility that it takes more times to reach such equilibrium and that the time to obtain it would be positively correlated with the pollution level. This conclusion was supported by Serafim et al. (2011). At





STARESO, the absence of PAHs above the instrument detection limit in mussel's tissues tends to confirm that it is an appropriate reference site for the study of PAHs contamination. When detected, PAHs contamination were observed mainly in the fairing area, and especially in Île Rousse, representing most PAHs polluted site (total concentration of 2 ng.g⁻¹ wet weight). Only 0.1 ng.g⁻¹ wet weight of pyrene was found near the gas station of Calvi. This is interesting because the presence of this type of pollutants in ocean is often reported as coming from oil spills, so their observation next to the gas station of each site was expected (Honda & Suzuki, 2020). One more time, the values measured were so small makes their interpretation complicated or even biased. For example, concentration of 2139 μ g.g⁻¹ wet weight of the 16 priority PAHs was measured in 2013 in mussels from the Sicily eastern coastline (Italy) (Cappello *et al.*,2013), and of 2025 μ g.g⁻¹ wet weight in Barcelona in 2001 for the same species. Finally, the most contaminated port (Île Rousse) is about one million-fold less polluted than those two sites.

Regarding PCBs, mussels situated in the reference site accumulated 5 different PCBs (PCB 101, 135, 156 are particularly PCB 138 and 153). Trace of the two latter were also found in the three other sites but in less quantity. Those two PCBs have commonly been reported as the majors congeners among the 209 already known that contribute to total PCBs accumulation (Andral et al., 2004; Scarpato et al., 2010; Bajt et al., 2019). Higher values have already been recorded, as in the coastal water of the Adriatic Sea in 2019, where PCBs 138 and 153 reach 18.9 and 46.4 µg.kg⁻¹ of dry weight, respectively (Bajt et al., 2019). In 2004, the French Mediterranean sea also exposed higher value of those tow congeners, in the same order, in particular at the Marseille basin, with values about 6.5 and 4-fold higher (Andral et al., 2004; Scarpato et al., 2010). In general, it is most common to measured larger amount of PCBs near large ports, marinas, estuaries (Bajt et al., 2019). They are mainly derived from commercial mixture (Aroclor 1260 and 1254 were the most widely used) used in European country (Ivanov & Sandell, 1992; Bajt et al., 2019). They can come from accidental spill or untreated wastewater, but principally from atmospheric deposition (Bajt et al., 2019; Villeneuve et al., 1999). Even if residues of PCBs, as long-term persistent compounds, are still present in living tissues, they globally tend to decrease with times (Villeneuve *et al.*, 1999).

Overall, regarding the results of all biomarkers of exposure in transplanted mussels, and compared with others location, differences in the nature and concentrations of pollutants can be observed between each port. The mussels from St-Florent would be more subject to pressures related to peaks of several TE (Al, Fe), those from STARESO and Ile Rousse would mostly suffer from the presence of organic pollutants (PCBs and PAHs, respectively). Although the





presence of these contaminants can have an impact on the physiological function of organisms, their concentration levels seem low enough not to impact their overall state of health. Furthermore, they are below the prescribed limits fixed by Commission regulation (CE) No 1881/2006 for human consumption.

1.2. Effects of chemical contamination on caged mussels

The measurement of physiological functions of the bioindicators species facing pollution pressures is important to evaluating the impact of pollutants on the health. To do this, a battery of 13 biomarkers has been assessed in the digestive gland of mussels collected in the three studied North Corsican ports and the reference site, STARESO. This organ, involved in pollutant detoxification and homeostasis maintenance, has been highly recommended for bioaccumulation assessment and was therefore chosen in this study (Cappello *et al.*,2013; Milinkovitch *et al.*,2015; Luna-Acosta *et al.*,2017b; Breitwieser *et al.*,2020).

Antioxidant defenses are among the most used biomarkers in biomonitoring. They are considered as relevant biomarkers because of their short-term response to external stress (Nasci et al.,2002; Vlahogianni & Valavanidis, 2007; Fernández et al.,2010; Ozkan et al.,2017). Regarding results, response of GST, CAT and SOD activities was found. Mussels showed higher GST activity at Île Rousse and STARESO than St-Florent, and higher CAT activity at Île Rousse than STARESO and St-Florent. The higher activity of GST at Île Rousse and STARESO and of CAT at Île Rousse fit with the presence of HAPs and PCBs in mussel's tissues, although in small quantity. The activation of these enzymes is commonly involved in polluted site (with TE, organic pollutants, pollution mixture) (Lima et al., 2007; Vlahogianni & Valavanidis, 2007; Bocchetti, Lamberti, et al., 2008; Cappello et al., 2013; Lacroix et al., 2015). Indeed, the exposure of marine organisms to contaminant can increase their levels of ROS. CAT activity can increase in response to an higher amount of H₂O₂, itself generated by the previous reaction of SOD to trap the superoxide radicals $(O_2 - \bullet)$ of these ROS (Fernández et al.,2010; Lacroix et al.,2015). On the contrary, lower activity of CAT and GST was observed at St-Florent. This is surprising, as the port was the most TE contaminated. According to these results, the two enzymes seem to be more sensitive to organics pollutants, especially PAHs. In the literature, no specific trend of sensitivity of GST and CAT to a particular pollutant clearly emerged. May be, CAT could be a little more susceptible to increase in presence of TE, as reported by Duarte et al. (2011). This would explain its low activity at STARESO where almost no TE contamination was detected in mussel. But this remains a hypothesis and doesn't explain its low activity in St-Florent. For this case, even if GST and CAT activities tend to increase with the concentration pollutants, some studies suggested that these enzymes may be





temporarily inhibited when it face acute pollution, resulting in opposite responses depending on pollutants concentration or exposure time (Regoli & Principato, 1995; Duarte *et al.*,2011; Benali *et al.*,2015; Ozkan *et al.*,2017). The disparate responses of CAT and GST to pollutants found at St-Florent could be the results of an acute pollution, the presence of unmeasured pollutant, or disturbances in others environmental factors. For example, the established correlation between GST and temperature was also illustrated in this study (appx. 6) (Duarte *et al.*,2011).

At St-Florent, significant difference of SOD activity between condition was revealed. Mussels placed near the fairing zone (Fz) showed more than 1.5-fold higher SOD activity than those next to the gas station (Gs). SOD activity is supposed to increase in response to pollutants, especially TE, but also organic pollutants (Fernández *et al.*,2010; Lacroix *et al.*,2015). Then, its response was not consistent with the levels of TE observed, as peaks of its activity was found near the less TE concentrated zone (Gs). Nevertheless, the only HAPs and PCBs of St-Florent were measured in the fairing zone. So, mussels undergo a mixture of pollutants in this area particularly, which could explain a higher levels of SOD activity. Also, correlation between SOD and nitrite, nitrate, ammonia, phosphates and Hg has already been illustrated, but those compounds were not analyzed here (Fernández *et al.*,2010; Lima *et al.*,2007). This contradictory results between contaminants measured and biomarkers of effect can also be explained by the presence of others source of stress or pollutants not analyzed as part of this study (e.g., petrochemical products, emerging pollutants).

Regarding energetic reserves, a difference in protein concentration among port was noticed. Lower amount of this compound was revealed in mussels from Île Rousse. A decrease of protein contents has been discovered by several authors in *Daphnia magma* and *Chlorella algae* who faced high levels of pollutants (De Coen & Janssen, 2003). This is consistent with the levels of antioxidant defenses in Île Rousse. It showed the highest GST and CAT activity, indicating higher levels of stress, probably by pollutants. In addition, it is well known that high ROS levels can lead to the oxidation of proteins (Vlahogianni & Valavanidis, 2007; Lushchak, 2011). The lower amount of protein and lipids contents in Fz of Calvi could be linked to a general higher accumulation of TE of the organisms in this area. If it is sufficient to bring higher stress conditions to mussels in this zone, the same conclusion as above can be given.

Finally, in this species, the immune system also responds. Higher activity of laccase was found at Calvi and St-Florent, compared to STARESO. Regarding contaminants, the Cudependence of this enzyme is now well established (Luna-Acosta *et al.*,2017b). This is consistent with our study, where the response of LAC activity clearly reflected the Cu





accumulation pattern in each site. As for LAC, Calvi and St-Florent faced higher levels of Cu, and STARESO, where LAC activity presented the lowest values, was the least contaminated. Others studies reported significant correlation with Co, Fe, Ni or V (Breitwieser *et al.*,2017). This correlation has been verified in this study for Fe, the others TE being too low concentrated. Recent studies determined that laccases can be involved in antioxidant and detoxification processes in addition to immune system (Luna-Acosta *et al.*,2017b). This type of enzymes can be considered as a biomarker of choice for pollution biomonitoring.

1.3. Limits

An active biomonitoring method had to be used for mussel because of its absence in all sites except in St-Florent. This scarcity could be due to the oligotrophic characteristic of water in North Corsica, providing limited availability of nutrients (Sara *et al.*,1998). The low level of phytoplankton biomass present in this type of waters is considered as unsuitable for their well growth, even in some recent studies have demonstrated the possibility for mussel to feed also detrital organic particles found in oligotrophic waters (Hawkins *et al.*,1999; Sarà, 2007; Sarà & Pusceddu, 2008). At St-Florent, primary production is enhanced by nutrients in freshwater inputs by Aliso River, creating meso- or eutrophic waters with higher food supply and then explaining the presence of mussel. As they may be starving in most of the studied sites, it is difficult to ensure that all biomarkers of effect responses reflect only pollution.

2. Passive biomonitoring of limpets in North Corsica ports

2.1. Inter-ports chemical contamination

One of the objectives of this master thesis, as part of the QUAMPO project, was to test the potential of limpet as suitable bioindicator species for North Corsican waters.

Limpet contamination trend seems to well fit with water one, as the contamination in Pb found in water samples of Île Rousse correspond to their accumulation (appx. 8). As mussel, the contamination in Mn observed at St-Florent was also detected in limpet, but this species accumulates much more.

The concentrations of TE accumulated in limpet decrease in the order Fe > Al > Zn > Cu> As > Se > Mn > Pb > Cr > Ni > Cd > Ba > Mo > Co. In comparison, Conti & Cecchetti, (2003) observed a decreasing order of Zn > Cu > Cd > Pb > Cr in *P. cerulea* in Italy. Regarding these trends, a contamination of Pb and Cr could be suggested, as those two compounds are placed in higher range. But limpet collected in central Italy were highly concentrated in Cd, compared to limpet of the present study. This must explain the observed change in accumulation





range because Pb concentration measured in North Corsica showed lower concentration of this contaminant that in Conti & Cecchetti (2003) study for most sites, except for Île Rousse.

Compared to other ports, a relatively high value of Cd has been found in STARESO. Richir & Gobert, (2014) have already found high values of this contaminant in mussels located in North-west Corsica (table 8). Furthermore, Cd, As, Pb, Cu or Zn, are commonly found in higher levels in limpet than mussel (Conti *et al.*,2010; Mbandzi *et al.*,2022; Pérez *et al.*,2019). The observed data are consistent with this trend for Cd, As, Pb, Cu. They have linked those amounts with potential upwelling of deep water that would bring Cd to the surface, the difference in variation physico-chemical characteristic of Ligurian Sea and Tyrrhenian Sea, or to a potential source in south-west Corsica, carried north by currents (Andral *et al.*,2004; Lafabrie *et al.*,2007, 2008). STARESO presented the highest concentrations of Ag, As, Ba, Cd, Mo, Se, meaning that it is not a very reliable reference site. Nevertheless, Cd value remains lower at STARESO than in Italian studies (table 9). Finally, our study showed that ports was not as clean as in Canary Islands, with higher levels of Cd at STARESO, of Cr, Fe and Cu in every sites, of Ni at STARESO and St-Florent, of Pb in all site except St-Florent, of V at Calvi, and particularly of Zn in all site and Al at Île Rousse (713 µg.g⁻¹ of wet weight found this year), suggesting a potential contamination of organisms.

	Gaeta Gulf (Central Italy) (Conti & Cecchetti, 2003)	Sicily (Italy) (Campanella et al., 2001)	Canary Islands (Spain) (Lozano-Bilbao et al., 2021) (in mg.kg ⁻¹ of wet weight)
Al	-	-	9.44
Cd	3.54	4.41	0.26
Cr	0.85	0.30	0.22
Cu	14.3	1.7	1.16
Fe	-	-	80.8
Ni	-	-	0.37
Pb	0.95	0.20	0.21
V	-	-	0.32
Zn	100.8	5	3.5

Table 9: Example o	f mean bioaccumulation of	f trace elements	(mean, $\mu g.g^{-1}$	of dry weight) in sof	ì
tissue of Patella sp.	recorded by recent studies.	<pre>LOQ: below</pre>	limit of quant	tification.	

The total quantity of PAHs found in limpet well reflected the measurements in water samples. As for water, the highest quantities were found in limpet from Calvi, and the lowest ones in those from STARESO. But the latter port still showed HAPs traces (naphthalene, phenanthrene, fluorene). As native organisms of the studied ports, they had more time to





accumulate contaminants in tissues, and revealed long-term contamination of the sites. The concentrations discovered in limpet's tissues may be the results of past episodes of pollution. In this species, PAHs contents tend to decrease with times, whit the highest levels occurring immediately after an oil spill. They also have been reported to decrease with the distance to oil spill sources (Lewis *et al.*,2010; Bartolomé *et al.*,2011; Reguera *et al.*,2018).

As for mussels, PCBs were found in limpet tissues coming from STARESO. PCB 153 and 138 are again the most concentrated congeners, but 1.1 ng.g⁻¹ of PCB 180 was also detected. Even in mussels was describe as a better accumulator of PBCs than limpets, the latter one still well accumulate some PBCs, mostly congeners 28, 138 or 180.

Again, all organics pollutants measured in the different ports was remained under the reglementary maximum levels settled by the Commission regulation (CE) No 1881/2006 for bivalve mollusks.

2.2. *Effects of chemical contamination of native limpet*

Among antioxidant defenses, a response of SOD was observed in limpet. This enzyme constitutes an important defense against oxygen toxicity by catalyzing the conversion of superoxide anion ($O_2 \rightarrow 0$) to oxygen and hydrogen peroxide (Fernández *et al.*,2010; Lacroix *et al.*,2015). In North Corsica, limpet from St-Florent were significantly lower concentrated in SOD than in the other ports. This biomarker is particularly interesting as it integrates well the response of organisms to all type of external stress, as previously describe for mussels (Fernández *et al.*,2010; Zaidi *et al.*,2022). Indeed, here both STARESO, Calvi and Ile Rousse were concerned by several pollutants, and St-Florent appeared to be the less stressful port. This trend is clearly confirmed by the SOD, which constitute a biomarker of choice for biomonitoring of limpet.

Regarding energetic stock and metabolism, limpet showed higher PK activity and glycogen content at STARESO, whereas the lowest levels of theses biomarkers were detected at Calvi. Only few studies investigated the energy metabolism, but its variation could be a key response to chemical stress. Energy metabolism pathway can be impacted when organism is exposed to pollution, through an increase of metabolic costs and a perturbation in ATP-synthase pathway (Lacroix *et al.*,2015). As STARESO face the most important mixture of pollutants, it is consistent that higher PK activity was found there. This would mean that higher ATP is needed to process antioxidant respond. Several studies defined limpet as a good accumulator of some TE, including Cd (Conti & Cecchetti, 2003; Lozano-Bilbao *et al.*,2021). This also confirm in this study, where higher stress of the organisms corresponds to higher concentration of the





compound. On the contrary, the high level of glycogen is not consistent with the previous result. This energy storage should be mobilized by the organism facing pollution as a rapid usable substrate to support high energy flux induce by high basal maintenance coasts. To supply requested energy, lower amount of glycogen stock was expected at STARESO, in organisms that activate PK, the enzyme responsible for the glycolysis (conversion of glucose into pyruvate) (Falfushynska et al., 2019; Lacroix et al., 2015). The high amount of glycogen in this port could be explain by the PCBs. These compounds are generally found in places highly concerned by wastewater discharge and mainland run-off. These water intakes are commonly rich in nutrients, which could explain higher energy stock in limpet. In addition, the species were significantly bigger in this port (table 3). This can also explain why limpets were more concentrated in glycogen than in other port. Further investigation on wastewater treatment at STARESO should be done to bring more answers. Limpet situated at St-Florent also showed among the lowest PK activity, similarly to those from Calvi. At St-Florent, this responds correspond with correlate with low level of pollution. But the trend of Calvi is quite interesting since this port showed among the highest levels of organics pollutants. It is possible, on more time, that external parameters (i.g., emergent pollutants, strong variation of physico-chemical characteristics of water) not analyzed in the study could have had an non negligible impact organisms.

2.3. Potential for further biomonitoring

A good understanding of natural seasonal variations linked to the biological cycle (reproductive cycle, spawning period, etc) of the bioindicators species from pollution-induced effects is crucial before adopting a multibiomarker approach in environmental risk assessment. It is therefore important to know precisely the basal response of used biomarkers (Cravo *et al.*,2012). The present study participates in providing additional data on limpet as a potential bioindicators. Several studies highlight the high potential of this species as cosmopolitan bioindicators species for traces elements (Conti *et al.*,2010; Reguera *et al.*,2018). Even in relatively low polluted area such as ours, several responses, in agreement with literature, was observed for limpet, making it a species with high indicator potential.

3. The integrated biomarker response (IBR)

The multibiomarker approach brings a more holistic assessment of the biological responses to possible pollution and a better understanding in environmental risk assessment, as it allow to assess the impacts of multiple contaminants (Beliaeff & Burgeot, 2002; Cravo *et al.*,2012; Devin *et al.*,2014; Ozkan *et al.*,2017). However, in biomonitoring study leading to the





development of concrete action in field, it seems important to integrate the response of both biomarkers to obtain a global overview of the quality of the environment. Bringing all these results separately to ports managers would be inefficient. It is therefore needed for this approach to be coupled with a tool summarizing all biomarker responses to simplify their interpretation and acting like a decision-support tool for field actors. The IBR index has been developed in this sense.

For mussels, IBR results goodly correlated with biomarkers responses. Higher value for Île Rousse was calculated, and fit with antioxidant defenses responses for this port, which showed higher stress.

For limpet, IBR results were also consistent with the general trend of biomarkers responses (section 4). The lower levels of stress of antioxidant biomarkers responses and biomarkers of exposure observed in St-Florent explain lower IBR value found for these ports. On the other hand, as illustrated above, the higher value for STARESO clearly correspond to the higher level of stress found by all significant biomarker responses.

Regarding IBR results, it can be considered as a good and easy tool to summarize biomarker responses in a general "stress-index" and can help to communicate with leaders and ports managers about water quality.

Regarding previous years, it is quite hard to understand trends among seasons or locations. The calculation of this index induces the comparison of factors. Then, the calculation of IBR where all ports were compared for a given sampling period didn't provide the same values as the calculation where all sampling periods were compared for one given port. Devin *et al.* (2014) warn about the importance of considering the IBR value as for comparison between site but not as an absolute index giving a biological stress. Also, it is important to keep in mind that this study was carried out *in situ*. Indeed, any significant variation of bio-physico-chemical parameters and processes that play an important role in the environmental quality can had an impact on the results obtained in this study. Finally, the QUAMPO project took place during the COVID 19 pandemic. The cessation of touristic activity and the decline of ports frequentation by visitors induced by this pandemic may have altered the seasonality of chronic pollution. Indeed, higher stress level was expected in summer due to high touristic pressure.

4. Interspecific variability

The difference in effect biomarker responses and bioaccumulation pattern of contaminants between the two species highlight the fact that they integrate differently the pollutants. This makes even more relevant to combine the use of more than only one bioindicator as it allows





to scan more precisely the impact of a wider set of pollutants. This clearly shows the importance of keeping investigate and describe new biomarkers of environmental quality in other species.

As mussels were absent in most studied sites, this species can be considered as not well adapted to North Corsican environmental conditions. Using this species only in complement to other bioindicators would be recommended in this context. In this study, limpet constituted an interesting bioindicator species in oligotrophic waters as it bioaccumulates more TE than mussel.

5. Limitations and perspectives

In situ environmental studies, such as this one, are marked by complex interaction of numerous parameters (contaminants, environmental conditions) which makes it difficult to analyze the nature and sources of pollution. Many parameters remain out of control but can have an impact on the measurements.

Furthermore, this study highlights the fact that each species exposed different reactions to various pressures of contaminants present in seawaters. Their complementarity can be considered as a strength in biomonitoring. If possible, the use of several bioindicators simultaneously would be recommended in *in situ* biomonitoring of waters currently affected by cocktails of pollutants.

In addition, it is difficult to compare to two model specie, as they were no used through the same method (active and passive biomonitoring). Mussels could only integrate short-term pollution. This might explain the lower concentration of contaminant observed in general in this species, compared to limpet.





Conclusion

This master's thesis was part of the first biomonitoring study carried out in Calvi, Île Rousse and St-Florent ports. Results obtained highlight difficulties of *in situ* biomonitoring, as many parameters must be considered. The use of limpet as promising bioindicators was also confirmed. Besides, the complementary of the mussel and limpet responses was showed, and that can be considered as an advantage because it makes the information provided by the biomonitoring more precises and holistic.

In general, trace of some contamination has been found in every site, from various nature depending on the species, the site, and the biomarker. But values remained overall quite low and did not exceed quality standards established by WFD or MSFD. The presence of PCBs detected in the tissues of the two species in STARESO constitute a problem as the sites was supposed to be a reference place, but the source of the pollution is being identified with local managers.

To conclude, a global good quality of waters bodies in the studied North Corsica ports was showed by this three years biomonitoring. This work and the QUAMPO project helped ports managers and leaders of Calvi, Île Rousse and St-Florent ports to fill a gap between field management and water quality data availability and therefore constitute a starting point for sites wishing to obtain the label "port propre". Nevertheless, it must be kept in mind that the study was performed during the COVID 19 pandemic situation. Results could reflect in a biased way the quality of water bodies in each ports studied, since a significant slowdown in human activities was recorded at this period. Then, a prolongment of this biomonitoring would be highly recommended to reveal the temporal trends of contaminants over a longer period and under real existing anthropogenic pressures.





REFERENCES

- Aebi, H. (1984). Catalase in vitro. *Methods in Enzymology*, 105, 121-126. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(84)05016-3
- Amanullah, B., Stalin, A., Prabu, P., & Dhanapal, S. (2010). Analysis of AchE and LDH in mollusc, Lamellidens marginalis after exposure to chlorpyrifos. 3.
- Andral, B., Stanisiere, J. Y., Sauzade, D., Damier, E., Thebault, H., Galgani, F., & Boissery, P. (2004). Monitoring chemical contamination levels in the Mediterranean based on the use of mussel caging. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 49(9-10), 704-712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2004.05.008
- Azizi, G., Layachi, M., Akodad, M., Yáñez-Ruiz, D. R., Martín-García, A. I., Baghour, M., Mesfioui, A., Skalli, A., & Moumen, A. (2018). Seasonal variations of heavy metals content in mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis) from Cala Iris offshore (Northern Morocco). *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 137, 688-694. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.06.052
- Baag, S., Mahapatra, S., & Mandal, S. (2021). An Integrated and Multibiomarker approach to delineate oxidative stress status of Bellamya bengalensis under the interactions of elevated temperature and chlorpyrifos contamination. *Chemosphere*, 264, 128512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.128512
- Bailey, D. M., Genard, B., Collins, M. A., Rees, J., Unsworth, S. K., Battle, E. J. V., Bagley, P. M., Jamieson, A. J., & Priede, I. G. (2005). High Swimming and Metabolic Activity in the Deep-Sea Eel Synaphobranchus kaupii Revealed by Integrated In Situ and In Vitro Measurements. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 78(3), 335-346. https://doi.org/10.1086/430042
- Bajt, O., Ramšak, A., Milun, V., Andral, B., Romanelli, G., Scarpato, A., Mitrić, M., Kupusović, T., Kljajić, Z., Angelidis, M., Çullaj, A., & Galgani, F. (2019). Assessing chemical contamination in the coastal waters of the Adriatic Sea using active mussel biomonitoring with Mytilus galloprovincialis. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 141, 283-298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.02.007
- Barrick, A., Barjhoux, I., Marion, J. M., Châtel, A., Perrein-Ettajani, H., Mouloud, M., Gillet, P., Méttais, I., & Mouneyrac, C. (2022). Investigating the impact of remediation efforts on Hedistediversicolor in the Seine estuary using multiple levels of biological organization. *Marine Environmental Research*, 173, 105528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2021.105528
- Bartolomé, L., Bustamante, M., Navarro, P., Tajadura, J., Gorostiaga, J. M., Díez, I., Zuloaga, O., & Etxebarria, N. (2011). The use of limpets as monitor of PAHs pollution in the Cantabrian coast. *Continental Shelf Research*, 31(17), 1818-1826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2011.08.001
- Beg, M. U., Butt, S. A., Al-Dufaileej, S., Karam, Q., Al-Sharrah, T. K., & Saeed, T. (2018). Biomarkers in fish as a measure of the state of marine environment of Kuwait. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 190(6), 325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-018-6704-5
- Beiras. (2018). *Marine pollution. Sources, Fate and Effects of Pollutants in Coastal Ecosystems* (1^{re} éd.). Elsevier science.
- Beliaeff, B., & Burgeot, T. (2002). Integrated biomarker response : A useful tool for ecological risk assessment. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 21(6), 1316-1322. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620210629





- Benali, I., Boutiba, Z., Merabet, A., & Chèvre, N. (2015). Integrated use of biomarkers and condition indices in mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis) for monitoring pollution and development of biomarker index to assess the potential toxic of coastal sites. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 95(1), 385-394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.03.041
- Bertrand, L., Monferrán, M. V., Mouneyrac, C., & Amé, M. V. (2018). Native crustacean species as a bioindicator of freshwater ecosystem pollution : A multivariate and integrative study of multi-biomarker response in active river monitoring. *Chemosphere*, *206*, 265-277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.05.002
- Besada, V., Manuel Andrade, J., Schultze, F., & José González, J. (2011). Monitoring of heavy metals in wild mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis) from the Spanish North-Atlantic coast. *Continental Shelf Research*, *31*(5), 457-465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2010.04.011
- Besse, J.-P., Geffard, O., & Coquery, M. (2012). Relevance and applicability of active biomonitoring in continental waters under the Water Framework Directive. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, *36*, 113-127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2012.04.004
- Bianchi, C. N., & Morri, C. (2000). RMESUaLTrSine Biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea : Situation, Problems and Prospects for Future Research. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 40(5), 367-376.
- Blandin, P. (1986). Bioindicateurs et diagnostic des systèmes écologiques. *Bulletin d'écologie*, *17*(4), 215-307.
- Bocchetti, R., Fattorini, D., Pisanelli, B., Macchia, S., Oliviero, L., Pilato, F., Pellegrini, D., & Regoli, F. (2008). Contaminant accumulation and biomarker responses in caged mussels, Mytilus galloprovincialis, to evaluate bioavailability and toxicological effects of remobilized chemicals during dredging and disposal operations in harbour areas. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 89(4), 257-266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2008.07.011
- Bocchetti, R., Lamberti, C. V., Pisanelli, B., Razzetti, E. M., Maggi, C., Catalano, B., Sesta, G., Martuccio, G., Gabellini, M., & Regoli, F. (2008). Seasonal variations of exposure biomarkers, oxidative stress responses and cell damage in the clams, Tapes philippinarum, and mussels, Mytilus galloprovincialis, from Adriatic sea. *Marine Environmental Research*, 66(1), 24-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2008.02.013
- Bolognesi, C., Frenzilli, G., Lasagna, C., Perrone, E., & Roggieri, P. (2004). Genotoxicity biomarkers in Mytilus galloprovincialis: Wild versus caged mussels. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 552(1-2), 153-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2004.06.012
- Bonacci, S., Iacocca, A., Fossi, S., Lancini, L., Caruso, T., Corsi, I., & Focardi, S. (2007). Biomonitoring Aquatic Environmental Quality in a Marine Protected Area : A Biomarker Approach. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 36(4), 308-315. https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447(2007)36[308:BAEQIA]2.0.CO;2
- Bonanno, G., & Orlando-Bonaca, M. (2018a). Chemical elements in Mediterranean macroalgae. A review. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 148, 44-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.10.013
- Bonanno, G., & Orlando-Bonaca, M. (2018b). Chemical elements in Mediterranean macroalgae. A review. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 148, 44-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.10.013
- Bonanno, G., & Orlando-Bonaca, M. (2018c). Perspectives on using marine species as bioindicators of plastic pollution. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 137, 209-221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.10.018





- Breitwieser, M., Barbarin, M., Plumejeaud-Perreau, C., Dubillot, E., Guyot, T., Huet, V., Churlaud, C., Coulombier, T., Brenon, I., Fichet, D., Imbert, N., & Thomas, H. (2020).
 Biomonitoring of Mimachlamys varia transplanted to areas impacted by human activities (La Rochelle Marina, France). *Chemosphere*, 243, 125199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.125199
- Breitwieser, M., Dubillot, E., Barbarin, M., Churlaud, C., Huet, V., Muttin, F., & Thomas, H. (2018). Assessment of the biological quality of port areas : A case study on the three harbours of La Rochelle: The marina, the fishing harbour and the seaport. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(6), e0198255. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198255
- Breitwieser, M., Viricel, A., Churlaud, C., Guillot, B., Martin, E., Stenger, P.-L., Huet, V., Fontanaud, A., & Thomas-Guyon, H. (2017). First data on three bivalve species exposed to an intra-harbour polymetallic contamination (La Rochelle, France). *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 199, 28-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2017.02.006
- Briant, N., Freydier, R., Araújo, D. F., Delpoux, S., & Elbaz-Poulichet, F. (2022). Cu isotope records of Cu-based antifouling paints in sediment core profiles from the largest European Marina, The Port Camargue. Science of The Total Environment, 157885. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.157885
- Burgeot, T., Bocquéné, G., Porte, C., Dimeet, J., Santella, R., Garcia de la Parra, L., Pfhol-Leszkowicz, A., Raoux, C., & Galgani, F. (1996). Bioindicators of pollutant exposure in the northwestern Mediterranean Sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 131, 125-141. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps131125
- Calberg, I., & Mannervik, B. (1985). Glutathione reductase. *Methods in Enzymology*, 113, 484-490. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(85)13062-4
- Campanella, L., Conti, M. E., Cubadda, F., & Sucapane, C. (2001). Trace metals in seagrass, algae and molluscs from an uncontaminated area in the Mediterranean. *Environmental Pollution*, *111*(1), 117-126. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(99)00327-9
- Cancellieri, J. A., & Maupertuis, M. A. (2016). «Le Jardin de la Corse »: La Balagne entre villes et campagnes (xie-xxie siècle). http://books.openedition.org/editionscnrs/28158
- Cappello, T., Maisano, M., D'Agata, A., Natalotto, A., Mauceri, A., & Fasulo, S. (2013). Effects of environmental pollution in caged mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis). *Marine Environmental Research*, 91, 52-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2012.12.010
- Caricato, R., Giordano, M. E., Schettino, T., Maisano, M., Mauceri, A., Giannetto, A., Cappello, T., Parrino, V., Ancora, S., Caliani, I., Bianchi, N., Leonzio, C., Mancini, G., Cappello, S., Fasulo, S., & Lionetto, M. G. (2019). Carbonic anhydrase integrated into a multimarker approach for the detection of the stress status induced by pollution exposure in Mytilus galloprovincialis : A field case study. *Science of The Total Environment*, 690, 140-150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.06.446
- Caricato, R., Lionetto, M. G., & Schettino, T. (2010). Seasonal variation of biomarkers in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* sampled inside and outside Mar Piccolo of Taranto (Italy). *Chemistry and Ecology*, 26(sup1), 143-153. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757541003627639
- Carr, R. S., & Neff, J. M. (1984). Quantitative semi-automated enzymatic assay for tissue glycogen. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Comparative Biochemistry*, 77(3), 447-449. https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-0491(84)90258-X
- Chahouri, A., Agnaou, M., El Hanaoui, M., Yacoubi, B., Moukrim, A., & Banaoui, A. (2022). Assessment of seasonal and spatial variation responses of integrated biomarkers in two marine sentinel bivalve species : Agadir Bay (Southern of Morocco). *Marine Pollution*





Bulletin, 174, 113179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.113179

- Chase, M. E., Jones, S. H., Hennigar, P., Sowles, J., Harding, G. C. H., Freeman, K., Wells, P. G., Krahforst, C., Coombs, K., Crawford, R., Pederson, J., & Taylor, D. (2001). Gulfwatch: Monitoring Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Trace Metal and Organic Contaminants in the Gulf of Maine (1991–1997) with the Blue Mussel, *Mytilus edulis* L. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 42(6), 490-504. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(00)00193-4
- Childress, J. J., & Somero, G. N. (1979). Depth-related enzymic activities in muscle, brain and heart of deep-living pelagic marine teleosts. *Marine Biology*, 52(3), 273-283. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00398141
- Coll, M., Piroddi, C., Steenbeek, J., Kaschner, K., Ben Rais Lasram, F., Aguzzi, J., Ballesteros, E., Bianchi, C. N., Corbera, J., Dailianis, T., Danovaro, R., Estrada, M., Froglia, C., Galil, B. S., Gasol, J. M., Gertwagen, R., Gil, J., Guilhaumon, F., Kesner-Reyes, K., ... Voultsiadou, E. (2010). The Biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea : Estimates, Patterns, and Threats. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(8), e11842. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011842
- Conti, M. E., Bocca, B., Iacobucci, M., Finoia, M. G., Mecozzi, M., Pino, A., & Alimonti, A. (2010). Baseline Trace Metals in Seagrass, Algae, and Mollusks in a Southern Tyrrhenian Ecosystem (Linosa Island, Sicily). *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 58(1), 79-95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-009-9331-x
- Conti, M. E., & Cecchetti, G. (2003). A biomonitoring study: Trace metals in algae and molluscs from Tyrrhenian coastal areas. *Environmental Research*, 93(1), 99-112. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0013-9351(03)00012-4
- Cossa, D. (1989). A review of the use of Mytilus spp. As quantitative indicators of cadmium and mercury contamination in coastal waters. *Oceanologica Acta*, *12*(4), 417-432.
- Cravo, A., Pereira, C., Gomes, T., Cardoso, C., Serafim, A., Almeida, C., Rocha, T., Lopes, B., Company, R., Medeiros, A., Norberto, R., Pereira, R., Araújo, O., & Bebianno, M. J. (2012). A multibiomarker approach in the clam Ruditapes decussatus to assess the impact of pollution in the Ria Formosa lagoon, South Coast of Portugal. *Marine Environmental Research*, *75*, 23-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2011.09.012
- Dailianis, S. (2011). Environmental impact of anthropogenic activities : The use of mussels as a reliable tool for monitoring marine pollution. *Mussels: Anatomy, Habitat and Environmental Impact, Nova Sciences Publishers Inc.*, 30.
- Danovaro, R. (2003a). Pollution threats in the Mediterranean Sea : An overview. *Chemistry and Ecology*, 19(1), 15-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/0275754031000081467
- Danovaro, R. (2003b). Pollution threats in the Mediterranean Sea: An overview. *Chemistry* and Ecology, 19(1), 15-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/0275754031000081467
- De Coen, W. M., & Janssen, C. R. (2003). The missing biomarker link : Relationships between effects on the cellular energy allocation biomarker of toxicant-stressed *Daphnia magna* and corresponding population characteristics. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 22(7), 1632-1641. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620220727
- Debier, C., Pomeroy, P., Dupont, C., Joiris, C., Comblin, V., Le Boulengé, E., Larondelle, Y., & Thomé, J. (2003). Quantitative dynamics of PCB transfer from mother to pup during lactation in UK grey seals Halichoerus grypus. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 247, 237-248. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps247237
- Delahaut, V., Daelemans, O., Sinha, A. K., De Boeck, G., & Bervoets, L. (2019). A multibiomarker approach for evaluating environmental contamination: Common carp





(Cyprinus carpio) transplanted along a gradient of metal pollution. *Science of The Total Environment*, 669, 481-492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.028

- Devin, S., Burgeot, T., Giambérini, L., Minguez, L., & Pain-Devin, S. (2014). The integrated biomarker response revisited : Optimization to avoid misuse. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, *21*(4), 2448-2454. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-2169-9
- Droit, J. (2020). Careening areas in marinas, anchorages, and private shipyards. Status of implementation of the MSFD measure. In L. Bonora, D. Carboni, & M. De Vincenzi (Éds.), *Proceedings e report* (1^{re} éd., Vol. 126, p. 698-704). Firenze University Press. https://doi.org/10.36253/978-88-5518-147-1.69
- Duarte, C. M., Agustí, S., Kennedy, H., & Vaqué, D. (1999). The Mediterranean climate as a template for Mediterranean marine ecosystems : The example of the northeast Spanish littoral. *Progress in Oceanography*, 44(1-3), 245-270. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6611(99)00028-2
- Duarte, Giarratano, E., Amin, O. A., & Comoglio, L. I. (2011). Heavy metal concentrations and biomarkers of oxidative stress in native mussels (Mytilus edulis chilensis) from Beagle Channel coast (Tierra del Fuego, Argentina). *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(8), 1895-1904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.05.031
- El-Damhogy, Kh. A., Abdel-Halim, A. M., Bashar, M. A. E., Abdel-Salam, K. M., & Abou Ellif, A.-S. (2019). Patella caerulea (Mollusca, Gastropoda) as Bio-Indicator for Certain Pollutants at El-Mex Bay, Alexandria, Egypt. *Egyptian Academic Journal of Biological Sciences, B. Zoology*, 11(3), 13-28. https://doi.org/10.21608/eajbsz.2019.57215
- Ellman, G. L., Courtney, K. D., Andres, V., & Featherstone, R. M. (1961). A new and rapid colorimetric determination of acetylcholinesterase activity. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 7(2), 88-95. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-2952(61)90145-9
- European Commission. (2008, juin 25). Directive 2008/56/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 June 2008 establishing a framework for community action in the field of marine environmental policy (Marine Strategy Framework Directive). *Official Journal of the European Union*.
- Falfushynska, H. I., Wu, F., Ye, F., Kasianchuk, N., Dutta, J., Dobretsov, S., & Sokolova, I. M. (2019). The effects of ZnO nanostructures of different morphology on bioenergetics and stress response biomarkers of the blue mussels Mytilus edulis. *Science of The Total Environment*, 694, 133717. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133717
- Fasulo, S., Iacono, F., Cappello, T., Corsaro, C., Maisano, M., D'Agata, A., Giannetto, A., De Domenico, E., Parrino, V., Lo Paro, G., & Mauceri, A. (2012). Metabolomic investigation of Mytilus galloprovincialis (Lamarck 1819) caged in aquatic environments. *Ecotoxicology* and Environmental Safety, 84, 139-146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2012.07.001
- Fernández, B., Campillo, J. A., Martínez-Gómez, C., & Benedicto, J. (2010). Antioxidant responses in gills of mussel (Mytilus galloprovincialis) as biomarkers of environmental stress along the Spanish Mediterranean coast. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 99(2), 186-197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2010.04.013
- Frings, C. S., Fendley, T. W., Dunn, R. T., & Queen, C. A. (1972). Improved determination of total serum lipids by the sulfo-phospho-vanillin reaction. *The American Association of Clinical Chemists*, 18(7), 673-674. https://doi.org/10.1093/clinchem/18.7.673
- Garric, J., Morin, S., & Vincent-Hubert, F. (2010). Les biomarqueurs en écotoxicologie : Définition, intérêt, limite, usage: *Sciences Eaux & Territoires, Numéro 1*(1), 12-17. https://doi.org/10.3917/set.001.0012





- GESAMP. (1969). Report of the first session (London, 17-21 march 1969). Joint IMCO/FAO/UNESCO/WMO Group of Experts on the Scientific Ascpects of Marina Pollution. (N° 1/11; p. 28 pp. VI Annexes).
- Gobert, S., Daemers-Lambert, C., & Bouquegneau, J. M. (1992). Etat physiologique et contamination en métaux lourds des moules Mytilus edulis sur la côte belge. *Bulletin de la Société Royale des Sciences de Liège*, 61(1-2), 177-194.
- Gobert, S., & Richir, J. (2019). Des indices pour la définition de l'état des masses d'eau en milieu marin : Mises au point, applications et aide à la gestion. *Revue Internationale de Géologie, de Géographie et d'Écologie Tropicales, 43*(3), 353-364.
- Goldberg, E., Bowen, V.T., Farrington, J.W., Harvey, G., Martin, J.H., Parker, P.L., Risebrough, R.W., Robertson, W., Schneider, E., & Gamble, E. (1978). The mussel Watch. *Environmental Conservation*, 5(2), 101-125. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892900005555
- Guerra-García, J. M., Navarro-Barranco, C., Martínez-Laiz, G., Moreira, J., Giráldez, I., Morales, E., Fernández-Romero, A., Florido, M., & Ros, M. (2021). Assessing environmental pollution levels in marinas. *Science of The Total Environment*, 762, 144169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144169
- Habig, W. H., Pabst, M. J., & Jakoby, W. B. (1974). Glutathione S-Transferases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 249(22), 7130-7139. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(19)42083-8
- Hawkins, A., James, M., Hickman, R., Hatton, S., & Weatherhead, M. (1999). Modelling of suspension-feeding and growth in the green-lipped mussel Perna canaliculus exposed to natural and experimental variations of seston availability in the Marlborough Sounds, New Zealand. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 191, 217-232. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps191217
- Holon, F., Marre, G., Parravicini, V., Mouquet, N., Bockel, T., Descamp, P., Tribot, A.-S., Boissery, P., & Deter, J. (2018). A predictive model based on multiple coastal anthropogenic pressures explains the degradation status of a marine ecosystem: Implications for management and conservation. *Biological Conservation*, 222, 125-135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.04.006
- Honda, M., & Suzuki, N. (2020). Toxicities of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons for Aquatic Animals. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(4), 1363. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17041363
- Ifremer, ODE, LITTORAL, LERBL, 18-04, & Laboratoire Environnement Ressources Boulogne-sur-Mer. (2018). Bulletin de la Surveillance de la Qualité du Milieu Marin Littoral 2017. Résultats acquis jusqu'en 2017. (p. 88 p.). Ifremer/ODE/LITTORAL/LERBL/18-04/Laboratoire Environnement Ressources Boulogne-sur-Me.
- Islam, S. M., & Tanaka, M. (2004). Impacts of pollution on coastal and marine ecosystems including coastal and marine fisheries and approach for management: A review and synthesis. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 48(7-8), 624-649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2003.12.004
- Ivanov, V., & Sandell, E. (1992). Characterization of polychlorinated biphenyl isomers in Sovol and trichlorodiphenyl formulations by high-resolution gas chromatography with electron capture detection and high-resolution gas chromatography-mass spectrometry techniques. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 26(10), 2012-2017. https://doi.org/10.1021/es00034a020

Jamieson, P. M., Nyirenda, M. J., Walker, B. R., Chapman, K. E., & Seckl, J. R. (1999).





Interactions between oestradiol and glucocorticoid regulatory effects on liver-specific glucocorticoid-inducible genes : Possible evidence for a role of hepatic 11 -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 7.

- Janssens, B. J., Childress, J. J., Baguet, F., & Rees, J. F. (2000). Reduced enzymatic antioxidative defense in deep-sea fish. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 203(24), 3717-3725. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.203.24.3717
- Lacroix, C., Le Cuff, N., Receveur, J., Moraga, D., Auffret, M., & Guyomarch, J. (2014). Development of an innovative and "green" stir bar sorptive extraction-thermal desorption-gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry method for quantification of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in marine biota. *Journal of Chromatography A*, *1349*, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2014.04.094
- Lacroix, C., Richard, G., Seguineau, C., Guyomarch, J., Moraga, D., & Auffret, M. (2015). Active and passive biomonitoring suggest metabolic adaptation in blue mussels (Mytilus spp.) chronically exposed to a moderate contamination in Brest harbor (France). Aquatic Toxicology, 162, 126-137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2015.03.008
- Lafabrie, C., Pergent, G., Kantin, R., Pergent-Martini, C., & Gonzalez, J.-L. (2007). Trace metals assessment in water, sediment, mussel and seagrass species Validation of the use of Posidonia oceanica as a metal biomonitor. *Chemosphere*, *68*(11), 2033-2039. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.02.039
- Lafabrie, C., Pergent-Martini, C., & Pergent, G. (2008). Metal contamination of Posidonia oceanica meadows along the Corsican coastline (Mediterranean). *Environmental Pollution*, *151*(1), 262-268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2007.01.047
- Lehtonen, K. K., Schiedek, D., Köhler, A., Lang, T., Vuorinen, P. J., Förlin, L., Baršienė, J., Pempkowiak, J., & Gercken, J. (2006). The BEEP project in the Baltic Sea: Overview of results and outline for a regional biological effects monitoring strategy. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 53(8-9), 523-537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2006.02.008
- Lewis, C., Guitart, C., Pook, C., Scarlett, A., Readman, J. W., & Galloway, T. S. (2010). Integrated assessment of oil pollution using biological monitoring and chemical fingerprinting. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.156
- Lima, I., Moreira, S. M., Osten, J. R.-V., Soares, A. M. V. M., & Guilhermino, L. (2007). Biochemical responses of the marine mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis to petrochemical environmental contamination along the North-western coast of Portugal. *Chemosphere*, 66(7), 1230-1242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.07.057
- Lin, Y.-S., Tsai, S.-C., Lin, H.-C., Hsiao, C.-D., & Wu, S. M. (2011). Changes of glycogen metabolism in the gills and hepatic tissue of tilapia (Oreochromis mossambicus) during short-term Cd exposure. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 154(4), 296-304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2011.06.014
- Liu, N., Pan, L., Wang, J., Yang, H., & Liu, D. (2012). Application of the biomarker responses in scallop (Chlamys farreri) to assess metals and PAHs pollution in Jiaozhou Bay, China. *Marine Environmental Research*, 80, 38-45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2012.06.008
- Livingstone, D. R. (1993). Biotechnology and pollution monitoring: Use of molecular biomarkers in the aquatic environment. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, 57(3), 195-211.
- Livingstone, D. R. (2001). Contaminant-stimulated Reactive Oxygen Species Production and Oxidative Damage in Aquatic Organisms. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 42(8), 656-666.





https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(01)00060-1

- Lowry, OliverH., Rosebrough, NiraJ., Farr, A. L., & Randall, RoseJ. (1951). PROTEIN MEASUREMENT WITH THE FOLIN PHENOL REAGENT. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 193(1), 265-275. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(19)52451-6
- Lozano-Bilbao, E., Herranz, I., González-Lorenzo, G., Lozano, G., Hardisson, A., Rubio, C., González-Weller, D., Paz, S., & Gutiérrez, Á. J. (2021). Limpets as bioindicators of element pollution in the coasts of Tenerife (Canary Islands). *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28(31), 42999-43006. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-15212-7
- Luna-Acosta, A., Breitwieser, M., Renault, T., & Thomas-Guyon, H. (2017a). Recent findings on phenoloxidases in bivalves. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 122(1-2), 5-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.06.031
- Luna-Acosta, A., Breitwieser, M., Renault, T., & Thomas-Guyon, H. (2017b). Recent findings on phenoloxidases in bivalves. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 122(1-2), 5-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.06.031
- Luna-Acosta, A., Bustamante, P., Budzinski, H., Huet, V., & Thomas-Guyon, H. (2015). Persistent organic pollutants in a marine bivalve on the Marennes–Oléron Bay and the Gironde Estuary (French Atlantic Coast)—Part 2 : Potential biological effects. Science of The Total Environment, 514, 511-522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.10.050
- Luna-Acosta, A., Rosenfeld, E., Amari, M., Fruitier-Arnaudin, I., Bustamante, P., & Thomas-Guyon, H. (2010). First evidence of laccase activity in the Pacific oyster Crassostrea gigas. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 28(4), 719-726. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2010.01.008
- Lushchak, V. I. (2011). Environmentally induced oxidative stress in aquatic animals. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *101*(1), 13-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2010.10.006
- Marengo, M., Fullgrabe, L., Fontaine, Q., Mazzotti, N., Lejeune, P., Boissery, P., & Gobert, S. (2020). Abundance, Composition and Spatial Distribution of Marine Plastic Litter in Sea Surface Waters Around Cap Corse. *Nanotechnology and Advanced Material Science*, 3(1), 1-5.
- Marigómez, I., Zoritaa, I., Izagirre, U., Ortiz-Zarragoitiaa, M., Patricia Navarrob, P., Etxebarriab, N., Amaia Orbeaa, A., Sotoa, M., & Cajaravi, M. P. (2013). Combined use of native and caged mussels to assess biological effects of pollution through the integrative biomarker approach. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 136-137, 32-48.
- Martincié, D., Nürnberg, H. W., Stoeppler, M., & Branica, M. (1984). Bioaccumulation of heavy metals by bivalves from Lim Fjord (North Adriatic Sea). *Marine Biology*, 81(2), 177-188. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00393116
- Mbandzi, N., Vincent Nakin, M. D., & Oyedeji, A. O. (2022). Temporal and spatial variation of heavy metal concentration in four limpet species along the southeast coast of South Africa. *Environmental Pollution*, 302, 119056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119056
- Milinkovitch, T., Bustamante, P., Huet, V., Reigner, A., Churlaud, C., & Thomas-Guyon, H. (2015). In situ evaluation of oxidative stress and immunological parameters as ecotoxicological biomarkers in a novel sentinel species (Mimachlamys varia). Aquatic Toxicology, 161, 170-175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2015.02.003
- Monirith, I., Ueno, D., Takahashi, S., Nakata, H., Sudaryanto, A., Subramanian, A., Karuppiah, S., Ismail, A., Muchtar, M., Zheng, J., Richardson, B. J., Prudente, M., Hue, N. D., Tana, T. S., Tkalin, A. V., & Tanabe, S. (2003). Asia-Pacific mussel watch: Monitoring contamination of persistent organochlorine compounds in coastal waters of Asian





countries. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 46(3), 281-300. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(02)00400-9

- Mouillot, F., Paradis, G., Andrei-Ruiz, M.-C., & Quilichini, A. (2008). Corsica. In I. Vogiatzakis, G. Pungetti, & A. M. Mannion (Éds.), *Mediterranean Island Landscapes* (Vol. 9, p. 220-244). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-5064-0 10
- Muir, D. C. G., Wagemann, R., Hargrave, B. T., Thomas, D. J., Peakall, D. B., & Norstrom, R. J. (1992). Arctic marine ecosystem contamination. *Science of The Total Environment*, 122(1-2), 75-134. https://doi.org/10.1016/0048-9697(92)90246-O
- Nasci, C., Nesto, N., Monteduro, R. A., & Da Ros, L. (2002). Field application of biochemical markers and a physiological index in the mussel, Mytilus galloprovincialis: Transplantation and biomonitoring studies in the lagoon of Venice (NE Italy). *Marine Environmental Research*, 54(3-5), 811-816. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-1136(02)00122-8
- Nigro, M., Falleni, A., Barga, I. D., Scarcelli, V., Lucchesi, P., Regoli, F., & Frenzilli, G. (2006). Cellular biomarkers for monitoring estuarine environments : Transplanted versus native mussels. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 77(4), 339-347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2005.12.013
- OFR, O. of the F. R. (1982). Appendix A to CFR, Part 423—126 Priority Pollutants. 47(52309), 1.
- Orani, A. M., Vassileva, E., & Thomas, O. P. (2022). Marine sponges as coastal bioindicators of rare earth elements bioaccumulation in the French Mediterranean Sea. *Environmental Pollution*, *304*, 119172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119172
- Orbea, A., & Cajaraville, M. P. (2006). PEROXISOME PROLIFERATION AND ANTIOXIDANT ENZYMES IN TRANSPLANTED MUSSELS OF FOUR BASQUE ESTUARIES WITH DIFFERENT LEVELS OF POLYCYCLIC AROMATIC HYDROCARBON AND POLYCHLORINATED BIPHENYL POLLUTION. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 25(6), 1616. https://doi.org/10.1897/04-520R2.1
- Ozkan, D., Dagdeviren, M., Katalay, S., Guner, A., & Yavaşoğlu, N. Ü. K. (2017). Multi-Biomarker Responses After Exposure to Pollution in the Mediterranean Mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis L.) in the Aegean Coast of Turkey. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 98(1), 46-52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-016-1988-z
- Paglia, D. E., & Valentine, W. N. (1967). Studies on the quantitative and qualitative characterization of erythrocyte glutathione peroxidase. *The journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medecine*, 70(1), 158-169. https://doi.org/ttps://doi.org/10.5555/uri:pii:0022214367900765
- Paoletti, F., Aldinucci, D., Mocali, A., & Caparrini, A. (1986). A sensitive spectrophotometric method for the determination of superoxide dismutase activity in tissue extracts. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 154(2), 536-541. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(86)90026-6
- Parra-Luna, M., Martín-Pozo, L., Hidalgo, F., & Zafra-Gómez, A. (2020). Common sea urchin (Paracentrotus lividus) and sea cucumber of the genus Holothuria as bioindicators of pollution in the study of chemical contaminants in aquatic media. A revision. *Ecological Indicators*, 113, 106185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.106185
- Pellegrini, M., & Baldari, C. T. (2009). Apoptosis and Oxidative Stress-Related Diseases : The p66Shc Connection. *Current Molecular Medicine*, 9(3), 392-398.
- Pérez, S., Sánchez-Marín, P., Bellas, J., Viñas, L., Besada, V., & Fernández, N. (2019). Limpets





(Patella spp. Mollusca, Gastropoda) as model organisms for biomonitoring environmental quality. *Ecological Indicators*, *101*, 150-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.01.016

- Petrescu, i., Bojan, O., Saied, M., Bârzu, O., Schmidt, F., & Kühnle, H.F. (1979). Determination of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase activity with deoxyguanosine 5'diphosphate as nucleotide substrate. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 96(2), 279-281. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(79)90582-7
- Phillips, J. H. (1978). The use of biological indicator organisms to quantitative organochlorine pollutants in aquatic environments—A review. *Environmental Pollution*, *16*, 167-229.
- Pomerantz, S. H. (1963). Separation, Purification, and Properties of Two Tyrosinases from Hamster Melanoma. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 238(7), 2351-2357. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(19)67976-7
- Potters, G. (2013). Marine Pollution. Bookboon.
- Prusina, I., Peharda, M., Ezgeta-Balic, D., Puljas, S., Glamuzina, B., & Golubic, S. (2015). Life-history trait of the Mediterranean keystone species Patella rustica: Growth and microbial bioerosion. *Mediterranean Marine Science*, 16(2), 393. https://doi.org/10.12681/mms.1121
- Rainbow, P. S. (2002). Trace metal concentrations in aquatic invertebrates : Why and so what? *Environmental Pollution*, 120(3), 497-507. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(02)00238-5
- Regoli, F., & Giuliani, M. E. (2014). Oxidative pathways of chemical toxicity and oxidative stress biomarkers in marine organisms. *Marine Environmental Research*, *93*, 106-117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2013.07.006
- Regoli, F., & Principato, G. (1995). Glutathione, glutathione-dependent and antioxidant enzymes in mussel, Mytilus galloprovincialis, exposed to metals under field and laboratory conditions : Implications for the use of biochemical biomarkers. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *31*(2), 143-164. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-445X(94)00064-W
- Reguera, P., Couceiro, L., & Fernández, N. (2018). A review of the empirical literature on the use of limpets Patella spp. (Mollusca: Gastropoda) as bioindicators of environmental quality. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 148, 593-600. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.11.004
- Renucci, A. (1962). La Corse et le tourisme. *Revue de géographie de Lyon*, 37(3), 207-224. https://doi.org/10.3406/geoca.1962.1740
- Richir, J., & Gobert, S. (2014). A reassessment of the use of Posidonia oceanica and Mytilus galloprovincialis to biomonitor the coastal pollution of trace elements : New tools and tips. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 89(1-2), 390-406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.08.030
- Robert, S., Fox, D., Boulay, G., Grandclément, A., Garrido, M., Pasqualini, V., Prévost, A., Schleyer-Lindenmann, A., & Trémélo, M.-L. (2019). A framework to analyse urban sprawl in the French Mediterranean coastal zone. *Regional Environmental Change*, 19(2), 559-572. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-018-1425-4
- Rocchetta, I., Pasquevich, M. Y., Heras, H., Ríos de Molina, M. del C., & Luquet, C. M. (2014).
 Effects of sewage discharges on lipid and fatty acid composition of the Patagonian bivalve Diplodon chilensis. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 79(1-2), 211-219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.12.011
- Rodrigo, A. P., Costa, P. M., Costa, M. H., & Caeiro, S. (2013). Integration of sediment





contamination with multi-biomarker responses in a novel potential bioindicator (Sepia officinalis) for risk assessment in impacted estuaries. *Ecotoxicology*, 22(10), 1538-1554. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-013-1140-3

- Roméo, M., Hoarau, P., Garello, G., Gnassia-Barelli, M., & Girard, J. P. (2003). Mussel transplantation and biomarkers as useful tools for assessing water quality in the NW Mediterranean. *Environmental Pollution*, 122(3), 369-378. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(02)00303-2
- Sánchez-Marín, P., Schultze, F., & Besada, V. (2022). Use of limpets as alternative to mussels in metal pollution monitoring; application in the Canary Islands. *Environmental Pollution*, *308*, 119614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119614
- Santos Fraga, N. S., Martins, A. S., Faust, D. R., Sakai, H., Bianchini, A., da Silva, C. C., & Aguirre, A. A. (2018). Cadmium in tissues of green turtles (Chelonia mydas): A global perspective for marine biota. *Science of The Total Environment*, 637-638, 389-397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.317
- Sarà, G. (2007). Sedimentary and particulate organic matter: Mixed sources for cockle *Cerastoderma glaucum* in a shallow pond, Western Mediterranean. *Aquatic Living Resources*, 20(3), 271-277. https://doi.org/10.1051/alr:2007040
- Sara, G., Manganaro, A., Cortese, G., Pusceddu, A., & Mazzola, A. (1998). *The relationship* between food availability and growth in Mytilus galloproÕincialis in the open sea *žsouthern Mediterranean/*. 15.
- Sarà, G., & Pusceddu, A. (2008). Scope for growth of Mytilus galloprovincialis (Lmk., 1819) in oligotrophic coastal waters (Southern Tyrrhenian Sea, Italy). *Marine Biology*, *156*(2), 117-126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-008-1069-x
- Scarpato, A., Romanelli, G., Galgani, F., Andral, B., Amici, M., Giordano, P., Caixach, J., Calvo, M., Campillo, J. A., Albadalejo, J. B., Cento, A., BenBrahim, S., Sammari, C., Deudero, S., Boulahdid, M., & Giovanardi, F. (2010). Western Mediterranean coastal waters—Monitoring PCBs and pesticides accumulation in Mytilus galloprovincialis by active mussel watching : The Mytilos project. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, *12*(4), 924. https://doi.org/10.1039/b920455e
- Serafim, A., Company, R., Lopes, B., Fonseca, V. F., França, S., Vasconcelos, R. P., Bebianno, M. J., & Cabral, H. N. (2012). Application of an integrated biomarker response index (IBR) to assess temporal variation of environmental quality in two Portuguese aquatic systems. *Ecological Indicators*, 19, 215-225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.08.009
- Serafim, A., Lopes, B., Company, R., Cravo, A., Gomes, T., Sousa, V., & Bebianno, M. J. (2011). A multi-biomarker approach in cross-transplanted mussels Mytilus galloprovincialis. *Ecotoxicology*, 20(8), 1959-1974. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-011-0737-7
- Shefer, E., Silverman, J., & Herut, B. (2015). Trace metal bioaccumulation in Israeli Mediterranean coastal marine mollusks. *Quaternary International*, 390, 44-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2015.10.030
- Shrivastava, A., & Gupta, V. (2011). Methods for the determination of limit of detection and limit of quantitation of the analytical methods. *Chronicles of Young Scientists*, 2(1), 21. https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-5186.79345
- Sifi, K., & Soltani, N. (2019). Seasonal changes of two biomarkers of oxidative stress (LDH, MDA) in the edible mollusc *Donax trunculus* (Mollusca : Bivalvia) from the Gulf of Annaba (Algeria): correlation with carbohydrate and lipid contents. *Molluscan Research*, 39(1), 44-52. https://doi.org/10.1080/13235818.2018.1499389





- Smolders, R., Bervoets, L., De Coen, W., & Blust, R. (2004). Cellular energy allocation in zebra mussels exposed along a pollution gradient : Linking cellular effects to higher levels of biological organization. *Environmental Pollution*, 129(1), 99-112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2003.09.027
- Solaun, O., Rodríguez, J. G., Borja, A., González, M., & Saiz-Salinas, J. I. (2013). Biomonitoring of metals under the water framework directive : Detecting temporal trends and abrupt changes, in relation to the removal of pollution sources. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 67(1-2), 26-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2012.12.005
- Sparks, C., Odendaal, J., & Snyman, R. (2014). An analysis of historical Mussel Watch Programme data from the west coast of the Cape Peninsula, Cape Town. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 87(1-2), 374-380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.07.047
- Sureda, A., Box, A., Tejada, S., Blanco, A., Caixach, J., & Deudero, S. (2011). Biochemical responses of Mytilus galloprovincialis as biomarkers of acute environmental pollution caused by the Don Pedro oil spill (Eivissa Island, Spain). *Aquatic Toxicology*, 101(3-4), 540-549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2010.12.011
- Sussarellu, R., Fabioux, C., Camacho Sanchez, M., Le Goïc, N., Lambert, C., Soudant, P., & Moraga, D. (2012). Molecular and cellular response to short-term oxygen variations in the Pacific oyster Crassostrea gigas. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 412, 87-95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2011.11.007
- Tovar-Sánchez, A., Sánchez-Quiles, D., & Rodríguez-Romero, A. (2019). Massive coastal tourism influx to the Mediterranean Sea : The environmental risk of sunscreens. *Science of The Total Environment*, 656, 316-321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.399
- Tsangaris, C., Kormas, K., Strogyloudi, E., Hatzianestis, I., Neofitou, C., Andral, B., & Galgani, F. (2010). Multiple biomarkers of pollution effects in caged mussels on the Greek coastline. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 151(3), 369-378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2009.12.009
- Turle, R., & Collins, B. (1992). Validation of the use of pooled samples for monitoring of contaminants in wildlife. *Chemosphere*, 25(4), 463-469. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6535(92)90279-Z
- Uluturhan, E., Darılmaz, E., Kontas, A., Bilgin, M., Alyuruk, H., Altay, O., & Sevgi, S. (2019). Seasonal variations of multi-biomarker responses to metals and pesticides pollution in M. galloprovincialis and T. decussatus from Homa Lagoon, Eastern Aegean Sea. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 141, 176-186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.02.035
- United Nations. (2020). Report of the Secretary-General on oceans and the law of the sea to the 76th session of the General Assembly. Prepared by the Division for Ocean Affairs and the Law of the Sea, Office of Legal Affairs.
- Villeneuve, J.-P., Carvalho, F. P., Fowler, S. W., & Cattini, C. (1999). Levels and trends of PCBs, chlorinated pesticides and petroleum hydrocarbons in mussels from the NW Mediterranean coast: Comparison of concentrations in 1973 1974 and 1988 1989. *The Science of the Total Environmen*, 237(238), 57-65.
- Viñas, L., Pérez-Fernández, B., Soriano, J. A., López, M., Bargiela, J., & Alves, I. (2018). Limpet (Patella sp) as a biomonitor for organic pollutants. A proxy for mussel? *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 133, 271-280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.05.046
- Vlahogianni, T. H., & Valavanidis, A. (2007). Heavy-metal effects on lipid peroxidation and antioxidant defence enzymes in mussels *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. *Chemistry and Ecology*, 23(5), 361-371. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757540701653285





- Wang, W.-X. (2016). Bioaccumulation and Biomonitoring. In *Marine Ecotoxicology* (p. 99-119). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803371-5.00004-7
- Weydert, C. J., & Cullen, J. J. (2010). Measurement of superoxide dismutase, catalase and glutathione peroxidase in cultured cells and tissue. *Nature Protocols*, 5(1), 51-66. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2009.197
- Yan, J., Wang, L., Fu, P. P., & Yu, H. (2004). Photomutagenicity of 16 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from the US EPA priority pollutant list. *Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis*, 557(1), 99-108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2003.10.004
- Yin, J., Falconer, R. A., Chen, Y., & Probert, S. D. (2000). Water and sediment movements in harbours. *Applied Energy*, 67(3), 341-352. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-2619(00)00030-1
- Zaidi, M., Athmouni, K., Metais, I., Ayadi, H., & Leignel, V. (2022). The Mediterranean limpet Patella caerulea (Gastropoda, Mollusca) to assess marine ecotoxicological risk : A case study of Tunisian coasts contaminated by metals. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 29(19), 28339-28358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-18490-3





APPENDIXES

Appendix 1: Map of the biocenose and pressures found near each north-Corsican port.















Appendix 2: Protocols of trace elements assessments performed in March and April 2022 at LIENSs laboratory. as part of the QUAMPO project.

• Trace elements in organism's tissues

The soft tissues of limpets and mussels were hand grinded with a ceramic mortar and pestle and freeze dried for 48-72h. About 0.25 mg of the samples and the reference materials (DOLT-5, dogfish liver and TORT-3, lobster hepatopancreas. National Research Council Canada) were digested by addition of 6:2 (v/v) 67-70% HNO3 / 34-37% HCl mixture (Fisher, trace metal quality). After for one night of digestion process at ambient temperature, samples also underwent a microwave digestion (30 min with constantly increasing temperature up to 120 °C, and 15 min at this temperature). They were finally completed with ultrapure water until 50 mL. A total of 18 traces elements (aluminum Al; silver Ag; arsenic As; barium Ba; cadmium Cd. cobalt Co. chromium Cr; copper Cu; iron Fe; manganese Mn; molybdenum Mo; nickel Ni; lead Pb; antimony Sb; selenium Se; tin Sn; vanadium V and zinc Zn) bioaccumulation were analyzed thanks to an ICP-OES Vista-Pro (Varian Inc., Palo Alto, California. USA) and an ICP-MS XSeries 2 (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachussetts, USA). Means recovery rates were 88% (Al), 82% (Ag), 100% (As), 91% (Cd), 106% (Co), 95% (Cr), 96% (Cu), 92% (Fe), 87% (Mn), 91% (Mo), 92% (Ni), 81% (Pb), 108% (Se), 89% (V) and 100% (Zn). Quantification limits were 19.28 (Al), 0.01 (Ag), 0.1 (As), 0.1 (Ba), 0.01 (Cd), 0.01 (Co), 0.1 (Cr), 0.96 (Cu), 3.86 (Fe), 0.01 (Mn), 0.1 (Mo), 0.04 (Ni), 0.01 (Pb), 0.04 (Sb), 0.39 (Se), 0.02 (Sn), 0.96 (V) and 3.86 (Zn) µg.g⁻¹ of dry weight. Results are expressed in $\mu g.g^{-1}$ of wet weight.

• Trace elements in seawater

Same instruments were used to analyze water samples, with a 1/5 dilution for water samples and seawater standards in 2% nitric acid for ICP-OES, and a 1/20 dilution in 2% nitric acid for ICP-MS. Results are expressed in μ g.L⁻¹.





Appendix 3: Protocols of organic pollutants assessments performed in March and April 2022 at CEDRE laboratory. Brest. France. as part of the QUAMPO project.

• Organics pollutants in organism's tissues

The concentration of 22 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). including the 16 Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) PAHs. 14 polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and 7 pesticides were measured in soft tissues of limpet and mussels. They are assessed by stir bar sorptive extraction-thermal desorption-gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (SBSEGC-MS/MS) following Lacroix et al. (2014) method. Firstly. tissues were digested by saponification and analytes were extracted for 16h at 700 rpm using polydimethylsiloxane stir-bar (Twister 20 mm x 0.5 mm. Gerstel). Secondly. bars were analyzed using a gas chromatography system Agilent 7890A coupled to an Agilent 7000 triple quadripole mass spectrometer (Agilent Technologies) and equipped with a Thermal Desorption Unit combined with a Cooled Injection System (Gerstel). The GC column was a Restek Rxi-5 ms (30 m. 0.25 mm. 0.25 µm). Then, a calibration curve ranging from 0.01 ng to 30 ng per bar were used to quantify analytes relatively to deuterated compounds. Quantification limits. calculated by the calibration curve method from Shrivastava and Gupta (2011) were 25 (naphthalene. phenanthrene and PCB 138). 5 (dibenzothiophene. fluoranthene. 2methylfluoranthene. chrysene. benzo(b)fluoranthene. benzo(k)fluoranthene. benzo(e)pyrene. benzo(a)pyrene. perylene. indeno(1.2.3-cd)pyrene. dibenzo(a.h)anthracene. benzo(g.h.i)perylene. PCB 153 and 4-4-DDE). 2.5 (benzothiophene. biphenyl. acenaphthylene. acenaphthene. fluorene. anthracene. pyrene. benzo(a)anthracene. PCB 7. PCB 28. PCB 52. PCB 35. PCB 101. PCB 77. PCB 135. PCB 118. PCB 156. PCB 180. PCB 169. aldrine. isodrine. dieldrine and endrine) and 0.5 (PCB 105. hexachlorobenzene and 2-4-DDE) ng.g⁻¹ dry weight. Results are expressed in ng.g⁻¹ of dry weight. The Standard Reference Materials 1974c "Organics in Mussel Tissues (Mytilus edulis)" provided by the National Institute of Standards (SRM) and Technology (NIST. Gaithersburg. USA) was used to make analytical quality control.

• Organics pollutants in seawater

The sampling and analysis methods describe above were also carried out in January 2021 ("winter period"). and in September 2020 and 2021 ("summer period"). Differences in the methodology arose in January 2020. Thus. all two-year data except those corresponding to the latter sampling (January 2020) will be integrated into this study




Appendix 4: Enzymatic activities protocols performed in March and April 2022 at LIENSs laboratory. as part of last sampling of the QUAMPO project.

Protein concentration

Total protein concentration was carried out using the bicinchoninic acid protein assay kit #BACl and #B9643 (Sigma-Aldrich®) thanks to Lowry *et al.* (1951) method. In microplate wells. 25 μ L of sample or standard were mixed with 200 μ L of the reacting solution. This latter was made by mixing between 77 mL of bicinchoninic acid and 1.54 mL of copper sulfate. Then, the microplate was covered by aluminum and incubated 30 min at 37°C on a shaker tray. Absorbance was read at 562 nm. Protein concentration was finally calculated using standard range:

protein concentration (mg.
$$g^{-1}$$
 of tissues) = $(\frac{A_{sam}}{a}) \times d$

Where:

 A_{sam} = sample or standard absorbance

a = constant "a" in the expression slope of the standard range ax + b

d = homogenate dilution

Energetic stocks

Lipids concentration

Protocol of determination of total lipids concentration is taken from Frings *et al.* (1972). In glass tubes and under fume hood. 20 μ L of sample or standard were added to 200 μ L of sulfuric acid 96%. After vortexing, they were incubated at 95°C for 10 min and placed for 5 min at ambient temperature. 1 mL were added, tubes were again vortexed and placed in an incubator at 37°C for 15 min. 200 μ L of samples were then deposited in microplate wells and absorbance was read at 540 nm after 45 min. The total lipids concentration was calculated as followed:

lipids concentration (mg. g⁻¹ of tissues) =
$$\frac{(\frac{OD_{sam} - OD_{Blank}}{S}) \times V}{m} \times d$$

Where:

DO = absorbance (nm)

S = standard curve slope

V = total volume of homogenate at departure (lipids and glycogen. in mL)

m = weight of sample at departure (g)

d = sample dilution





Glycogen concentration

Total glycogen concentration measurement followed Carr and Neff (1984) method. 10 μ L of amyloglucsidase was added on 1 out of 2 microtubes already containing 400 μ L of standard or sample. They were vortexed and incubated at 55°C for 2h. Microtubes with the only sample or standard stayed in the fridge at 4°C during these 2h. All microtubes were centrifuged 10 min at 12000 rpm at 4°C. On ice. 20 μ L of supernatant was placed in glass tubes with 200 μ L of citrate buffer (0.1 M. pH 5). 1.6 mL of glucose oxidase peroxidase (GOD-POD) were added. and tubes were immediately vortexed and incubated at 20°C for 40 min. The GOD-POD solution was prepared by added 59.2 mg of peroxidase type I. 153.65 mg of glucose oxidase type II and 25 mL of O-dianisidine-di-HCl solution (60 mg of O-diazine-di-HCl + 25 mL of ultrapure water) to 875 mL of Tris-HCL buffer (0.5 M. pH 7). To stop the reaction. 60 μ L of HCl 5N were added. 200 μ L of samples were then deposited in microplate wells and absorbance was read at 420 nm.

The total glycogen concentration was calculated as followed:

glycogen concentration (mg. g⁻¹ of tissues) =
$$\frac{(\frac{\Delta_{sam} - \Delta_{samN1}}{S}) \times V}{m} \times d$$

Where:

 Δ_{sam} = incubated sample OD – blank OD (absorbance in nm) Δ_{samN1} = non incubated sample OD – blank OD (absorbance in nm) S = standard curve slope V = total volume of homogenate at departure (lipids and glycogen. in mL) m = weight of sample at departure (g) d = sample dilution



Enzymatic total activity

Biomarkers of neurotoxicity



Acetylcholinesterase (ACHE) (EC 3.1.1.7)

The determination of ACHE total activity was conducted according to Ellman *et al.* (1961). 20 μ L of sample or blank (PBS buffer) were put in microplate wells with 160 μ L of the reacting solution (RS). RS was made by mixing 42 mL of phosphate buffer (100 mM. pH 7.4). 6 mL of NaHCO₃ (0.55 mM) and 6 mL of DTNB (0.3 mM). Reaction was initiated by 20 μ L of acetylthiocholine (0.5 mM). Absorbance was read at 405 nm. Total activity of ACHE was measured through the following calculation:

$$Activity (U.g^{-1}of \ tissues) = \frac{slope \times 10 \times d}{\varepsilon_{anion} \times l}$$

Where:

Activity = mmol.L⁻¹.min-¹ = μ mol.mL⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.g⁻¹.min⁻¹ - U.g⁻¹ slope = slope value (a from its equation $\mathbf{a}x$ +b). mOD.min⁻¹ 10 = dilution in well d = sample dilution ε = molar extinction coefficient of 5-thio-2-nitrobenzoate = 13600 mol.cm⁻¹ l = optical pathlength

Biomarker of immune systems

Laccase (LAC) (EC 1.10.3.2: *p*-diphenol oxidase)

Protocol for LAC activity assessment was performed according to Luna-Acosta *et al.* (2010). by following the oxidation of the substrate p-phenylenediamine (PPD). As this substrate may oxidize itself without any enzyme's presence. non-enzymatic autoxidation of substrate control was performed in addition to the blank (PBS). Thus, in microplates. 2 types of mixture were done: substrate (133 μ L of PBS + 7 μ L of PPD) and sample (10 μ L of samples. 123 μ L of PBS and 7 μ L of PPD). PPD was made by mixing 216 mg of the product with 2 mL of methanol. Microplates were read at 420 nm every 5 min for a 2h kinetic.

Activity (U.
$$g^{-1}$$
 of tissues) = $\frac{slope \times 14 \times d}{\varepsilon_{NADPH} \times l} \times 10^3$

Where:

Activity = mmol.L⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.mL⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.g⁻¹.min⁻¹ – U.g⁻¹ slope = slope value (a from its equation **a**x+b). mOD.min⁻¹ 10 = dilution in well d = sample dilution ϵ = molar extinction coefficient of NADPH = 6.22 mol.cm⁻¹ l = optical pathlength



Biomarkers of energetic metabolism

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) (EC 1.1.1.27)

LDH total activity was determined by measuring the NADH consumption (Childress *et al.* 1979 with modification as in Bailey *et al.* 2005). 20 μ L of sample or blank (PBS buffer) were put in microplate wells with 180 μ L of the reacting solution (RS). RS was made by mixing 26.4 mL of Tris/HCl buffer (80 mM. pH 7.5). 3 mL of KCl (100 mM). 300 μ L of NADH (150 μ M) and 300 μ L of sodium pyruvate (2 mM). Absorbance was read at 340 nm. The total LDH activity was calculated as followed:

$$Activity (U.g^{-1}of \ tissues) = \frac{slope \times 10 \times d}{\varepsilon_{NADH} \times l}$$

Where:

Activity = mmol.L⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.mL⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.g⁻¹.min⁻¹ - U.g⁻¹ slope = slope value (a from its equation **a**x+b). in mOD.min⁻¹ 10 = dilution in well d = sample dilution ϵ = molar extinction coefficient of NADH = 6220 mol.cm⁻¹ l = optical pathlength

Pyruvate kinase (PK) (EC 2.7.1.40)

To assess the pyruvate kinase total activity. measurement of NADH consumption was made according to Childress *et al.* (1979) as modified by Bailey *et al.* (2005). The only difference from the LDH protocol was the composition of the reacting solution. It was made by mixing 39.6 mL of Tris/HCl buffer (80 mM. pH 7.5). 6 mL of MgSO₄ (10 mM). 6 mL of KCl (100 mM). 6 mL of ADP (5 mM). 600 μ L of fructose bisphosphate (0.1 mM). 600 μ L of phosphoenolpyruvate (1 mM). 600 μ L of NADH (150 μ M) and 600 μ L of LDH solution. The latter one was made of 135 μ L of LDH and 465 μ L of Tris/HCL buffer.

Activity
$$(U.g^{-1}of \ tissues) = \frac{slope \times 10 \times d}{\varepsilon_{anion} \times l}$$

Where:

Activity = mmol.L⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.mL⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.g⁻¹.min⁻¹ – U.g⁻¹ slope = slope value (a from its equation **a**x+b). in mOD.min⁻¹ 10 = dilution in well d = sample dilution ε = molar extinction coefficient of 5-thio-2-nitrobenzoate = 13600 mol.cm⁻¹ l = optical pathlength







Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) (EC 4.1.1.49)

PEPCK analysis followed the same principle of measurement that LDH and PK: assessing NADH consumption (Petrescu *et al.* 1979 as adapted by Jamieson *et al.* 1999). Here. microplates were filled with 20 μ L of sample or blank (PBS). 160 μ L of the reacting solution (RS) and 20 μ L of deoxyguanosine-5'-diphosphate (dGDP) to initiate the reaction. RS was made by mixing 42 mL of Tris/HCl buffer (50 mM. pH 7.5). 5.4 mL of MnCl₂ (1 mM). 5.4 mL of NaHCO₃ (50 mM). 540 μ L of NADH (0.25 mM). 540 μ L of phosphoenolpyruvate (1 mM). and 120 μ L of MDH solution. MDH solution and dGDP resulted from a mix between respectively 6.13 mg and 78 μ L of products. . respectively. and Tris/HCL buffer (42 μ L and 9.566 mL respectively). Absorbance was read at 340 nm. Total activity was calculated as followed:

Activity (U.
$$g^{-1}$$
 of tissues) = $\frac{slope \times 10 \times d}{\varepsilon_{anion} \times l}$

Where:

Activity = mmol.L⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.mL⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.g⁻¹.min⁻¹ – U.g⁻¹ slope = slope value (a from its equation **a**x+b). in mOD.min⁻¹ 10 = dilution in well d = sample dilution ε = molar extinction coefficient of 5-thio-2-nitrobenzoate = 13600 mol.cm⁻¹ l = optical pathlength



Biomarkers of antioxidants defenses

Superoxide dismutase (SOD) (EC 1.15.1.1)

SOD activity was determined by measuring the rate of NADH oxidation based on the inhibition of a superoxide driven NADH oxidation. This inhibition is a function of SOD activity. One unit of SOD corresponds to fifty percent inhibition of oxidation. The protocol followed the method developed by Paoletti *et al.* (1986). 20 µL of sample or standard (SD1. $\approx 100 \text{ U.mL}^{-1}$) were put in microplate wells with 173 µL of the MIX. The latter was made by mixing 31.6 mL of PBS (1100 mosm). 1580 µL of NADH (7.5 mM) and 987.5 µL of EDTA 100 mM / MnCl₂ 50 mM solution (100 µL of EDTA 200 mM plus 100 µL of MnCl₂ 100 mM). Reaction was initiated by 20 µL of 2-Mercaptoethanol (10 mM). made with 3 µL of products and 4.26 mL of ultrapure water. After 15 min latency. microplates were read at 340 nm for a 1h10 kinetic. Total SOD activity was calculated as followed:

Activity
$$(U.g^{-1}of\ tissues) = \frac{slope_{sam} - slope_{blank}}{slope_{standard}} \times d$$

Where:

Activity = mmol.L⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.mL⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.g⁻¹.min⁻¹ – U.g⁻¹ slope_{sam} = sample slope (a from its equation **a**x+b). in mOD.min⁻¹ slope_{blank} = blank slope (a from its equation **a**x+b). in mOD.min⁻¹ slope_{standard} = standard slope (a from its equation **a**x+b). in mOD.min⁻¹ d = sample dilution

Catalase (CAT) (EC 1.11.1.6)

Thanks to the protocol of Aebi (1984). total CAT activity was assayed by recording the consumption of H_2O_2 . Simply. 20 µL of sample or blank (PBS). 160 µL of reacting solution (RS) and 20 µL of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) to initiate the reaction were placed in microplate wells for a lecture at 240 nm. RS was made only with phosphate buffer (50 mM. pH 7). and H_2O_2 with 1 mL of H_2O_2 3% mixed with 9 mL of ultrapure water. Absorbance was read at 240 nm. This is the calcul of catalase total activity

Activity
$$(U.g^{-1}of\ tissues) = \frac{slope \times 10 \times d}{\varepsilon_{H202} \times l}$$

Where:

Activity = mmol.L⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.mL⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.g⁻¹.min⁻¹ – U.g⁻¹ slope = slope value (a from its equation **a**x+b). mOD.min⁻¹ 10 = dilution in well; d = sample dilution ϵ = molar extinction coefficient of H₂O₂ = 39.4 mol.cm⁻¹ 1 = optical pathlength







Glutathione peroxidase (GPX) (EC 1.11.1.9)

GPX total activity was assessed through the method of Paglia and Valentine (1967) as adapted for microplates by Janssens *et al.* (2000). GPX can reduce hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) to 2 molecules of water H₂O. but this reaction also causes oxidation of 2 molecules of glutathione (GSH). Its activity is determined by measuring the consumption of NADPH by GR when the latter regenerates 2 molecules of GSH. On microplates wells. to the 15 μ L of sample of blank (PBS) were added 120 μ L of reacting solution (RS) and 15 μ L of tert-butyl hydroperoxide solution (tBHP-2) permitted to initiate the reaction. To make tBHP-2. a first solution was made: a mix of 10 μ L of tBHP (0.2 mM) and 990 μ L of Tris/HCl buffer (50 mM. pH 7.6). 160 μ L of that solution was secondly mixed with 7.84 mL of the same Tris/HCL buffer. RS was a mix of 45 mL of the Tris/HCl buffer. 480 μ L of NADPH (0.14 mM). 480 μ L of EDTA (1 mM). 480 μ L of GSH (1 mM) and 1.560 mL of GR solution (315 μ L of GR plus 1.245 mL of Tris/HCl buffer). Absorbance was read at 340 nm.

$$Activity (U. g^{-1} of tissues) = \frac{slope \times 10 \times d}{\varepsilon_{NADPH} \times l}$$

Where:

Activity = mmol.L⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.mL⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.g⁻¹.min⁻¹ - U.g⁻¹ slope = slope value. mOD.min⁻¹ 10 = dilution in well d = sample dilution ϵ = molar extinction coefficient of NADPH = 6.22 mol.cm⁻¹ l = optical pathlength





Glutathione-S-transferase (GST) (EC 2.5.1.18)

GST was determined by measuring the production of glutathionyl-dinitrobenzene (GS-DNB) (Habig *et al.* 1974). 20 μ L of sample or blank (PBS) and 160 μ L of reaction solution (RS) were put in microplate wells. Reaction was initiated by 20 μ L of GSH (10 mM). RS was a mix of 540 μ L of 1-chloro-2.4-dinitrobenzene (cDNB. 1 mM) and 53.46 mL of phosphate buffer (100 mM. pH 6.5). Absorbance was read at 340 nm.

Activity (U.
$$g^{-1}$$
 of tissues) = $\frac{slope \times 10 \times d}{\varepsilon_{GS-DNB} \times l}$

Where:

Activity = mmol.L⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.mL⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.g⁻¹.min⁻¹ – U.g⁻¹ slope = slope value (a from its equation **a**x+b). mOD.min⁻¹ 10 = dilution in well d = sample dilution ε = molar extinction coefficient of NADPH = 9600 mol.cm⁻¹ l = optical pathlength

Glutathione reductase (GR) (EC 1.6.4.2)

GR total activity was assessed according to Carlberg and Mannervik (1985). measuring NADPH consumption. Here. microplate wells were filled with 20 μ L of sample or blank (PBS) and 180 μ L of reacting solution (RS). a mix of 58.2 mL of phosphate buffer (100 mM. pH 7). 600 μ L of NADPH (0.1 mM). 600 μ L of EDTA (1 mM). and 600 μ L of GSSH (1 mM. 50.32 mg of product for 739 μ L of the phosphate buffer). Absorbance was read at 340 nm.

Activity
$$(U.g^{-1}of \ tissues) = \frac{slope \times 10 \times d}{\varepsilon_{NADPH} \times l}$$

Where:

Activity = mmol.L⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.mL⁻¹.min⁻¹ = μ mol.g⁻¹.min⁻¹ - U.g⁻¹ slope = slope value (a from its equation **a**x+b). mOD.min⁻¹ 10 = dilution in well d = sample dilution ε = molar extinction coefficient of NADPH = 6.22 mol.cm⁻¹ l = optical pathlength





Appendix 5: Script R used for statistical analyses on data acquired during the QUAMPO project (R version 4.2.0 and RStudio 2022.02.3)

https://we.tl/t-efD98sOP5w

Appendix 6: Pearson's correlograms between morphometric measurements. biomarkers of effects and environmental parameters collected since September 2020 for the QUAMPO project.







Appendix 7: Total enzymatic activity (mean \pm standard deviation. sample size in parentheses) of biomarkers of effect measured in digestive gland of mussels and soft tissues of limpets. both collected in the different ports in January 2022. Letters indicates significant differences between locations (p-values < 0.05) within the same species.

	Mussel Limpet							
	STARESO	Calvi	Île Rousse	St Florent	STARESO	Calvi	Île Rousse	St Florent
РК	$360.47 \pm 112.57 \\ (10)$	$\begin{array}{c} 404.22 \pm \\ 132.16 \ (18) \end{array}$	317.37 ± 133.65 (20)	365.53 ± 112.54 (20)	$1199.34 \pm 442.13 \\ (6)^{a}$	675.08 ± 249.07 (9) ^b	661.02 ± 281.14 (8) ^b	610.31 ± 250.91 (7) ^b
LDH	/	/	/	/	173.47 ± 44.01 (7)	137.09 ± 28.14 (9)	$141.30 \pm 37.65 \\ (9)$	159.23 ± 24.49 (9)
PEPCK	$280.86 \pm 162.61 \tag{9}$	$270.20 \pm \\ 149.90 \ (18)$	287.96 ± 174.65 (18)	$256.32 \pm \\ 128.33 \ (18)$	89.36 ± 22.62 (7)	66.55 ± 15.91 (9)	$73.17 \pm 15.04 \\ (9)$	80.53 ± 17.05 (9)
GR	$\begin{array}{c} 168.80 \pm 28.37 \\ (10)^{\text{ a}} \end{array}$	$152.57 \pm 28.64 (15)^{a}$	118.19 ± 39.68 (19) ^b	$\begin{array}{c} 149.98 \pm 35.73 \\ (19)^{a} \end{array}$	$123.44 \pm 36.21 \\ (6)$	$133.57 \pm 39.41 \\ (8)$	$92.40 \pm 16.21 \\ (8)$	117.14 ± 30.76 (9)
GPX	56.91 ± 23.62 (6)	$2.75 \pm 0.84 \\ (13)$	$53.10 \pm 34.00 \\ (11)$	$48.15 \pm 22.33 \\ (14)$	42.43 ± 14.08 (4)	40.69 ± 24.93 (7)	37.47 ± 18.16 (4)	32.04 ± 8.48 (7)
GST	277.85 ± 71.76 (9) ^a	$\begin{array}{c} 218.20 \pm \\ 70.08 \ (19) \ ^{ab} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 217.49 \pm 58.24 \\ (20)^{ab} \end{array}$	$181.76 \pm 64.59 \\ (17)^{b}$	$\begin{array}{l} 7845.89 \pm \\ 4017.19 \ (7) \ ^{ab} \end{array}$	$10605.96 \pm 2046.03 (10)^{a}$	7772.27 ± 1172.49 (10) ^b	9918.62 ± 1882.71 (10) ^{ab}
SOD	$\begin{array}{c} 613.61 \pm 211.29 \\ (10)^{a} \end{array}$	376.43 ± 269.24 (17) ^ь	$356.74 \pm 156.46 (17)^{b}$	321.71 ± 191.92 (19) ^b	$202.76 \pm 98.70 \\ (7)$	$261.48 \pm 156.52 \\ (10)$	188.97 ± 36.14 (9)	$52.38 \pm 41.89 \\ (8)$
CAT	95.26 ± 44.35 (8)	$129.80 \pm 64.20 (18)$	$116.99 \pm 62.11 \\ (18)$	91.75 ± 43.11 (15)	$133.83 \pm 63.28 \\ (6)$	85.84 ± 46.87 (5)	121.44 ± 26.66 (6)	$142.21 \pm 108.13 \\ (9)$
ACHE	$\begin{array}{c} 45.80\pm10.99\\(9)\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 41.95\pm13.01\\(19)\end{array}$	38.31 ± 9.09 (20)	40.84 ± 8.21 (17)	131.89 ± 44.48 (7)	112.61 ± 32.95 (7)	$145.75 \pm 52.29 \\ (8)$	$\begin{array}{c} 169.64 \pm 43.45 \\ (10) \end{array}$
LAC	17.03 ± 3.38 (10) ^{ab}	$\begin{array}{c} 20.00 \pm 5.01 \\ (20)^{a} \end{array}$	14.89 ± 5.12 (20) ^b	19.58 ± 5.11 (20) ^a	9.59 ± 1.14 (7)	8.93 ± 1.71 (10)	8.70 ± 0.87 (10)	8.24 ± 0.74 (10)





Appendix 8: Trace element concentration (in μ g.L-1) in water samples collected in the different locations in January 2022. Values above the detection limit are colored in red on grey background.

	STARESO	Calvi	Île Rousse	St Florent
Ag	< 10	< 10	< 10	< 10
Al	< 200	< 200	< 200	< 200
As	< 10	< 10	14.84	< 10
Ba	< 10	< 10	< 10	< 10
Cd	< 2	< 2	< 2	< 2
Со	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1
Cr	< 10	< 10	< 10	< 10
Cu	< 2	5.92	2.98	13.04
Fe	< 500	< 500	< 500	< 500
Mn	< 1	< 1	< 1	12.84
Mo	< 10	< 10	< 10	< 10
Ni	< 100	< 100	< 100	< 100
Pb	< 1	< 1	1.34	< 1
Sb	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1
Se	83.12	85.16	49.34	47.82
Sn	< 2	< 2	< 2	< 2
V	< 100	< 100	< 100	< 100
Zn	< 500	< 500	< 500	< 500





Appendix 9: Organic pollutant concentration (in ng.L⁻¹) in water samples collected in the different locations in January 2022. <LD = below the detection limit. <LQ = below the quantification limit.

	STARESO	Calvi	Île Rousse	St Florent
Naphtalène	< LQ	8.0	< LQ	< LQ
C1-Naphtalène	< LD	13.2	< LQ	< LQ
C2-Naphtalène	< LQ	14.3	5.6	5.3
C3-Naphtalène	5.6	10.8	9.0	7.2
Benzothiophène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
C1-Benzothiophène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
C2-Benzothiophène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
C3-Benzothiophène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Biphényl	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Acénaphtylène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Acénaphtène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Fluorène	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	7.2
C1-Fluorène	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ
C2-Fluorène	7.6	6.0	9.2	5.4
C3-Fluorène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Phenanthrene	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ	< LQ
Anthracene	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
C1-Phenan/anthra	< LD	< LD	< LQ	< LD
C2-Phenan/anthra	< LD	< LQ	< LD	< LD
C3-Phenan/anthra	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Dibenzothiophène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
C1-Dibenzothiophène	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD
C2-Dibenzothiophène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
C3-Dibenzothiophène	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD
Fluoranthène	< LQ	< LQ	< LD	< LQ
Pyrène	< LQ	< LD	< LD	< LD
C1-Fluoranthènes/Pyrènes	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
C2-Fluoranthènes/Pyrènes	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
C3-Fluoranthènes/Pyrènes	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Benzo[a]anthracène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Chrysène	< LQ	< LD	< LD	< LD
C1-Chrysènes	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
C2-Chrysènes	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
C3-Chrysènes	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Benzo[b+k]fluoranthène	1.9	< LD	< LD	< LD
Benzo[e]pyrène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Benzo[a]pyrène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Pérylène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD





	STARESO	Calvi	Île Rousse	St Florent
Indéno(1.2.3-cd)pyrène	< LD	< LD	< <i>LD</i>	< LD
Dibenzo(a.h)anthracène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Benzo(g.h.i)pérylène	< LD	< LD	< LD	< LD
Total PAHs (ng.L ⁻¹)	15.0	52.3	23.8	25.2